DAT CHAU

DOCTORATE OF PHILOSOPHY (PH.D) IN CIVIL ENGINEERING

SELECTION OF TEAM STRUCTURE - THE ESSENTIAL FACTOR OF PROJECT MANAGEMENT FOR CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS

ENGLISH



SELINUS EDITIONS



SELECTION OF TEAM STRUCTURE - THE ESSENTIAL FACTOR OF PROJECT MANAGEMENT FOR CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS

Dissertation Submitted to

Selinus University of Science and Literature

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Philosophy of Doctorate (Ph.D) in Civil Engineering

Submitted by: DAT CHAU Student No.: UNISE0831IT

Supervised by: DR. SALVATORE FAVA

October 2019



DECLARATION

"I do hereby attest that I am the sole author of this project/thesis and that its contents are only the result of the readings and research I have done". The dissertation titled "Selection of team structure – the essential factor of project management for construction projects" submitted for the Degree of Doctorate of Philosophy (Ph.D) in Civil Engineering at University of Selinus, faculty of Engineering and Technology; is my original work and the dissertation has not formed the basis for the award of any degree, associateship, fellowship or any other.

The research papers published based on the research conducted out of the course of the study are also based on the study and not borrowed from other sources.

Student Signature

Dat Chau Student No.: UNISE0831IT Date: 25th October 2019

TABLE OF CONTENTS

(388)

I.	INTR	ODUCTION
	1.1	Background of the Study1
	1.2	Problem Statement2
	1.3	Objectives4
	1.4	Scope of the study4
	1.5	Limitation6
	1.6	Structure of the Dissertation
II.	LITE	RATURE REVIEW
	2.1	General
	2.2	Knowledge and skill of team member in Project Management in Construction Project9
	2.3	Team Structure Arrangement11
	2.4	Team Member Selection on cost, time, and quality management concepts17
	2.5	Team Structure in Design Management21
	2.6	Team Structure for Tender Management25
	2.7	Team Structure in Establishing Construction Contract – FIDIC Forms
	2.8	Team Structure in Contract Management32
	2.9	Team Structure in Health Safety Environmental (HSE) Management
	2.10	Team Structure in Ethical Management
	2.11	Application of Project Management Software (PMS) on Project Management Team Structure
	2.12	Coordination between Project Management Team and Contractor

Ш.		CONTEXT – PROJECT MANAGEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION PROJECT TEAM STRUCTURE COMPOSITION
	3.1	Introduction43
	3.2	Understanding Project Management Scope in Construction Project43
	3.3	Understanding the key phase of Project Management in Construction Project45
	3.4	Risk Management in Project Management for Construction Project47
	3.5	Understanding Main Type of Contract in Construction49
	3.6	Team composition for Project Management – Project Director/Team Leader 51
	3.7	Team composition for Project Management – Team members
IV.	RES	EARCH METHODOLOGY55
	4.1	Introduction
	4.2	Research Philosophy56
	4.3	Research Design
	4.4	Research Questions65
	4.5	Data Collection Methods65
	4.6	Ethical issues: Reliability and Validity65
	4.7	Summary and Conclusion
V.	RES	ULTS AND ANALYSIS69
	5.1	Introduction
	5.2	Details of the Participants in the Interviews69
	5.3	Characteristic of Team Structure of Case Studies70
	5.3.1	Ho Tram Entertainment and Resort Project70
	5.3.2	SP-PSA International Port Project71
	5.3.3	Vinhomes Landmark Residential Complex Project73
	5.3.4	Expansion of Thu Duc Water Plant Project – Phase III, Capacity of 300,000 m³/day

	5.4	Data Analysis76
	5.5	Key Findings82
VI.	CON	ICLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS87
	6.1	General
	6.2	Conclusions
	6.2.1	The Key Finding Issues
	6.2.2	Limitation of the Research88
	6.2.3	Proposed Application for Team Structure89
	6.2.4	Proposed Implication on Team Structure90
	6.3	Recommendations90
	6.3.1	Team Structure Arrangement and Team Member Selection90
	6.3.2	Purther Required Study91
	6.4	Contribution of this research
BI	BLIOC	GRAPHY94
AP	PEN	DIX A108
AP	PEN	DIX B
RE	SEAF	RCH PARTICIPANT CONSENT FORM110
AP	PEN	DIX C
AP	PEN	DIX D

LIST OF TABLES

Tables	Page
Table 2.1	- Summary of Knowledge Areas10
Table 2.2	- Summary of Skills11
Table 2.3	- Summary of type of team structure13
Table 2.4	- Phase of contractor selection in post qualification public tendering
Table 2.5	- Brief Overview of FIDIC contracts to date
Table 2.6	- Procurement and Contract Manager Roles
Table 2.7	- Dispute Resolution Process
Table 3.1	- Comparison of elements of effective/high performing team from different researchers
Table 4.1	- Summary of research paradigms and their major characteristics
Table 4.2	- Case Study Project Brief
Table 4.3	- Proposed Participant Group Variableness61
Table 5.1	- Details of the Participants in the Interviews70
Table 5.2	- Open Coding for the Research

LIST OF FIGURES

Figures			Page
Figure 1.1	-	Frequently Encountered Problems in Project Management	3
Figure 2.1	-	Goals relevant to the team structure	12
Figure 2.2	-	Intersecting Management Skills	18
Figure 2.3	-	Team performance on cohesiveness	20
Figure 2.4	-	Main elements in Collaborative Design Management	22
Figure 2.5	-	The six preconditions for design tasks	24
Figure 2.6	-	Building blocks of the tender evaluation methodology	27
Figure 2.7	-	The tender phases up to financial close	28
Figure 2.8	-	Personnel for Contract Management	35
Figure 2.9	-	The usage of PMS in the US	40
Figure 2.10	-	The usage of PMS in the Asia	40
Figure 3.1	-	Process Group of Project	44
Figure 3.2	-	Iron Triangle of Project Management	44
Figure 3.3	-	Today Project Management Concept	45
Figure 3.4	-	The Phases of Construction Project	46
Figure 3.5	-	Most pressing elements of project risk management	47
Figure 3.6	-	The Risk Management Process according to PMI	48
Figure 3.7	-	Cost overrun	48
Figure 3.8	-	Most common causes of construction delays	49
Figure 4.1	-	Procedures of Qualitative Content Analysis Approach	64
Figure 4.2	-	Flowchart of Research Methodology	68
Figure 5.1	-	Organization Chart of Ho Tram Entertainment and Resort Project	71
Figure 5.2	-	Organization Chart of SP-PSA International Port Project	72
Figure 5.3	-	Organization Chart of Vinhomes Landmark Residential Complex Proj	ect74
Figure 5.4	-	Organization Chart of Expansion of Thu Duc Water Plant Project Phase III, Capacity of 300,000 m ³ /day	75

ABSTRACT

Project management for construction projects depends heavily on suitable team members in delivering successfully the project on key concepts of cost, time and quality. The composition of project management team for construction project requires each team member to process not only management skills but also technical skills to suit the assigned development project. This study focuses on the arrangement of composition of team structure and selection of team members of project management team in order to find the right structure of composition of team members to tackle many problems such as project delay, overrun cost of project and project with unacceptable quality in construction project.

The theories of previous researches on team structure and team member selection on construction project to provide project management on key issues of cost, time, and quality together with the trending demand of Heath Safety Environmental (HSE) and Ethical conduct in order not only to deliver the successful project but also to avoid the biggest problem in construction of being corruption in different phases of construction procedure.

Naturalist – constructionist paradigm is employed for the research with an in-depth interview technique with participants from four (4) construction project case studies. Four (4) projects with different kinds of scopes of project management and different kinds of project development are selected with participants coming from different backgrounds to attend the in-depth interviews on the research subject. Qualitative content, analysis with the inductive approach is applied to analyze data from the in-depth interviews to provide the findings for problem statement of the studied subject.

Based on the findings, recommendations and conclusions on the subject of team structure for construction projects are presented with the aim to contribute to the future success of project management for construction project on selection of team structure and team members for construction projects.

I. INTRODUCTION

I. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of the Study

Construction industry has been considered one of the most important industries that contribute to the growth of the economy, especially in the developing countries. Construction proceeding in any project is affected by many stakeholders such as developers, funders, design consultant, contractors, material suppliers, etc. Therefore, it is necessary to have a project management team to provide the project management to ensure the successful delivery of the construction project.

The project management in construction depends largely on composition of the selected individual professional in many fields of construction industry – the project management team – in order to meet demand of client's requirements of completion within time, cost and quality standard. Regardless of type or scale of the project, the project management team is needed to set up with the suitable qualified human resources to take care of all elements of the project for delivering successfully a constructed product (Egan, 2002).

In project management for construction project, the project management team has to manage all phases of the project such as design, tender and construction. Traditionally, the design phase is used to be considered as a separate activities phase of the project (Anumba et. al., 2002), but most of the failures of construction projects are related very much to lack of management in the design phase. Tender phase reflects the cost, time and quality of the project in accordance with the requirement of client by selecting the appropriate contractor to match with these required conditions. The tender phase also sets out the basis of the management of construction phase based on the established contract between the contractor and client. Construction phase is the execution of the design by complying with the contract to carry out the construction of the project. Therefore, the project management team has to be formed differently for each project and also at each phase of the project with different combinations of qualification resources (Cornick and Mather, 1999). The difficulty of setting team structure is that gathering a group of professional people does not certainly make a functional team to manage a construction project.

The purpose of this study is to examine the important role of team structure in project management in order to find the most suitable arrangement of human

resources team to function properly in management of a construction project in the most effective way. The study also analyzes the performance of project management team in the reflection of arrangement of the team structure, especially the contribution of each team member in the management of each component in complexity of any construction project.

1.2 Problem Statement

A successful project depends on good project management to deliver a management system with an appropriate team structure on balancing three key constraint factors of time, quality and cost. The balancing of key constraints means that any of the key constraints is changed without affecting another or changing the specified quality of the project.

But most of the implemented projects in construction industry have failed to make the balancing of key constraints, and one of main reasons for the failure to deliver the project management for construction projects is the inability of forming the appropriate human resources to be a project management team (Kozlowski and Ligen, 2006).

The poor arrangement of project management team together with wrong selection of qualified team member resulted in the uncontrollability of key constraints by increasing the cost, delaying in the construction schedule and producing the low quality of the project. The selection of inappropriate team member in project management team also leads to a huge financial claim from the contractor and in some cases lead to a court case to damage the reputation of not only the project management team but also all related stakeholders such as the project owner, funders (King, 2015).

The performance of each individual and ability to function in a team to deliver project management service has generated in many research (Mohrman et al., 1995). It is necessary to have project management team comprising the suitable team member in different fields of construction industry who could function in their assigned position and could co-ordinate to cover all key constraints of project management (Cantu, 2007).

The project management problems for construction projects highlighting in the Inadequate Resources, Uncommitted Team Members and Unclear Goals and Senior Executive Direction are illustrated in Figure 1.1 – Frequently Encountered Problems in project management.



Figure 1.1 – Frequently Encountered Problems in Project Management

Beside the basic concept of the management of cost, time and quality, the Health Safety Environment (HSE) and Ethical Conduct are other serious issues in construction project as construction generates problems on the construction site safety (Hughes & Ferrett, 2008), the environmental impact (Gluch and Raisanen, 2012) and the unethical conduct (Transparency International, 2005). The reason for this is that the team structure arrangement usually ignores to include the expert team member in HSE to co-operate with the team to take care of the HSE issues and the unethical conduct detection is not considered as a part of the team structure in project management scope.

Therefore, the failure in project management in construction project is improved by selecting the appropriate team member to make a sound management team structure on fulfilling the key constraints of project management and also bring the safety, employee's ethic throughout the construction process.

Source: Taylor (2006)

1.3 Objectives

The study focuses on the problems of arrangement of team structure and team member in the construction projects to cause the blow-out of the budget, the extension of the construction period and the lack of quality in construction projects (PMBok, 2013), and to determine the important factor of team structure in selecting the suitable personnel and coordinating between team members on the successful performance of project management in construction project.

The study also looks at the Health Safety Environmental (HSE) and Ethical Conduct management for construction projects related to the arrangement of team structure which is being examined to eliminate the impact of the implementation of a construction project to the HSE and ethical issues.

In order to expedite the mentioned issues in team structure to deliver the successful project management in construction project, it is also vital to examine the ability of human resources and leadership in team structure to work together for sharing the same goal in project management of the any assigned project.

The aim of this study is to provide the answers for the following questions in team structure in project management of construction projects:

- 1) What is the typical model of arrangement of team structure in project management of construction projects?
- 2) How to have the most effective team composition in project management of construction projects?
- 3) Is the right composition of team structure of project management team to be a key factor to deliver successfully the construction project?

1.4 Scope of the study

Methodology

The qualitative method is applied with the in-depth interviews with project team leaders, project directors and different professional team members of various project management teams of case study projects recently completed such as:

 Ho Tram Entertainment and Resort Project – Construction cost of USD 450 Million.

- SP PSA (Saigon Port Port Singapore Authority) International Port Project
 Construction cost of USD 350 Million.
- (iii) Vinhomes Landmark Residential Complex Project Construction cost of USD 800 Million.
- (iv) Expansion of Thu Duc Water Plant Project Phase III, Capacity 300,000m3/day– Construction cost of USD 120 Million.

The above-mentioned four (4) selected case studies of different types of projects and different scales are supposed to provide all necessary data on the arrangement of team structure of each project, the performance of the project team in management of each component of the project. The case studies are to reflect the reality of the performance of each team member on affecting the success or failure of the project.

Team structure in project management is just a factor in the big picture of the construction of the project with stakeholders, including the developer, the funder, the design consultant, the authorities, and the contractor to implement the project from the idea becoming the actual physical project. Therefore, the inductive approach is the selection of this research for the finding and the analysis to give a result on the researched subject. The in-depth interviews are conducted in each project with different levels of stakeholders to find the effectiveness of the team structure in the performance of each project. All the unclear answers from the interviewees are clarified to have the worthwhile finding of the subject (Rubin & Rubin, 1995).

Research Design

To ensure the collection of all the correct data on the research based on the quantitative and qualitative techniques, the following procedure is implemented.

- 1. Setting up the question and data collection forms
- 2. Conducting the interview with the appropriate stakeholders.
- 3. Briefing the performance of each case study project for comparison with the data collection.
- 4. Performing the data analysis based on the result from data collection and the performance of each case study project.

The results and findings on the research design are set out to answer the questions stated in the objectives of this research.

Ethical approval

All the requirements on ethical approval from Selinus University are fulfilled with the approval from the developer/organization of each mentioned project together with the research participant consent form to be agreed by the interviewee.

Even the ethical issue is not mentioned in detail and the approval on ethical issue is not required to present in this study but all the approvals and the participant's consents are obtained for the proceeding of this research compliance with the requirement of the University. The research interview is undertaken by the leader of the developer/organization, the team leader of the project and the member of the team.

All information related to each mentioned project is generated in the secure account which can be only accessed by the researchers. There is no name to be mentioned in the research, but only the position of a person for facilitation in this research.

1.5 Limitation

Construction is a wide subject with the difference in the development of the proposed project. Infrastructure could impose many development scenarios in transportation, water supply, environment, etc.; Real estate could impose many different scenarios in hotel, condominium, commercial developments, etc.; and industry could impose different scenarios in manufacturing plant, warehouse, refinery, etc. The variety in scale of the project could also make the difference in the way to approach the project. Therefore, there is a limitation to draw a definite conclusion on the team structure or the composition of the team to provide the project management in the construction industry but with the sample of the case studies, the research could provide a guideline on the team structure and the selection of the appropriate team members of the large scale project (project cost above USD 100 million) which could prove to be the key successful factor in project management of the construction projects (Spatz, 2000).

1.6 Structure of the Dissertation

The structure of this study is prepared in six (6) Chapters as follows:

- Chapter 1 Introduction: to introduce the concept of the research based on the problem statement, the objectives and aims of the research. To define the research technique, the method of the gathering of data. To produce the result and the analysis to come to the conclusion of the research.
- Chapter 2 Literature Review: To review the theories of the team structure in project management especially for construction projects. The review also includes all themes related to the team structure such as team member selection, the effectiveness of team members on the success of project management for construction projects.
- Chapter 3 The Context Project Management of Construction Project and Team Structure Composition: To introduce the concept and framework of project management together with the phasing of a construction project in order to compose a suitable team structure in each phase. To clarify the role of Project Director/Team Leader and team members to have a competent team structure in performance of the successful project management practice.
- Chapter 4 Research Methodology: To clarify the selection of the research technique and method for the research procedure and the research design to ensure the data to be collected with reliability and validity.
- Chapter 5 Results and Analysis: To gather all the data to provide the results together with the analysis to provide the finding and the influence of the team structure in project management for construction projects.
- Chapter 6 Conclusions and Recommendations: To finally provide the result of the finding to fulfill the objectives of the study. To recommend the required action on the team structure in project management for construction projects and the further required study on this subject.

II. LITERATURE REVIEW

II. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 General

All theories related to the subject of team structure in project management including the arrangement of the team, team member selection and type of team structure on the management of the concept of construction management of the cost, time, quality, safety, environment and ethics are thoroughly reviewed.

The team structure comprised a group of professionals with different disciplines cooperated for the success of the project (Bell, 2004). It was agreed that the construction projects could be successfully accomplished by the appropriate team structure (Cohen and Bailey, 1997).

The function and performance of a team are depended very much on the maintaining of the entire team during the project period (Uher and Loosemore, 2004). It is important to have a right team structure for a construction project – construction project team – to take the responsibility for the delivery of the project (Alshawi and Faraj, 2002).

Construction projects now have no boundary on the resources with the funds may come from one country, the design team and management team would come from other country, the same is also applied for the team structure with team members come from all the places in the world with different cultures and different set of method of delivery project to work together for the success of the project (Emmit and Gorse, 2007).

It is quite normal in construction projects, team structure is comprised with personnel come from different organizations to co-operate to deliver the project management for the project (Jefferies et al., 1999). The functioning of team structure is needed to clarify clearly to all team members to ensure the project team to perform based on the scope of work (Parker, 2008).

Burke (2006) stated that the team structure was formed to provide the effectiveness in management and the ability to cover all the requirements of the technical issues with the following functions in project management of construction projects:

- To achieve the completion of the construction schedule.
- To have the combination of skills for every aspect of the project.
- To provide the brainstorming to solve the problem in the quick time.

- To take the necessary actions on the team decisions.
- To support the other team member in technical and emotional matters.

Due to complications of different kinds of construction work, such as infrastructure, building or industry and the scale of the project, it is very difficult to set a typical structure for team structure. Mintzberg (2007) offered the different type of team structure for project management in various industries. In order to find the most suitable type of team structure in construction project, the selected team structure should provide the speedy replies to all the technical and management issues which happen rapidly on site of any construction projects (Child & McGrath, 2001). The selected team structure also needs to execute successfully the performance of the assigned project.

The justification of the performance of the project in relation to the team structure is agreed with many previous studies and in which the performance of the team is given by the performance of the project on the key elements of cost control, high quality and on time (Bai and Yang, 2011). The performance of the team could also depend on the team member performance and client satisfaction (Pinto and Pinto, 1991). It is clearly that the performance of the project is on the quality of each team member and the management of the team member by the project leader (Takim et al., 2003). The successful performance of project management of the team in construction could be evaluated in relation to the achievement of the project main components of time, cost and quality and the successful performance is the proven record of the implemented team structure to the project (Henderson and Walkinshaw, 2002).

2.2 Knowledge and skill of team member in Project Management in Construction Project

Team member of Project Management in construction project requires not only the management skill but also the technical knowledge. Technical knowledge plays a vital factor in construction industry (Snowden, 2002); for example, the project management in construction project monitors the delivery of technical demand projects such as high-rise building, bridge, reclamation land for airport or tunnel in seabed, etc. which requires to have not only technical knowledge but also high technical knowledge and vast experience of team member in the related fields to provide the project management successfully (Omidvar et al., 2012). In other industry, project management only requires knowledge and skills of management to deliver the project and the application of software also gives a big help to provide

the project management. However, it is not the case for project management in construction project as technical knowledge and experience are needed to solve the change or problem occurred in developing a project that depend closely on the composition of team structure and technical knowledge and skill of team member (Edum-Fotwe et al., 2000). The processing of technical knowledge and skills in different disciplines of each team member should be facilitated in each different construction project and/or in different phases of a construction project (Ly et al., 2005).

In 2013, Hwang and Ng have made a research on three (03) text books and eight (08) journal articles on the requirement of technical knowledge and skills for each team member in team structure in order to deliver project management successfully for construction project.

Table 2.1 and 2.2 illustrate the summary of knowledge areas and skills needed from team member in the research in 2013.

Essential knowledge area	Dogbegah et al. (2011)	PMI (2008)	Ling (2003)	Odusami (2002)
Schedule Management and Planning	Х	Х	Х	Х
Cost Management	Х	Х	Х	
Quality Management	Х	Х	Х	
HR Management	Х	Х		Х
Risk Management	Х	Х		
Supply Chain Management	Х	Х		
Claim Management	Х			
Knowledge Management	Х		Х	
Health and Safe Management	Х		Х	
Conflict and Dispute Management	Х			
Ethical Management	Х			
Stakeholder Management	Х		Х	
Information Technology Management	Х		Х	
Communication Management	Х	Х		Х
Materials Resources Management	Х			
Financial Management	Х			Х
Plant and Equipment Resources Management	Х			

Table 2.1 – Summary of Knowledge Areas

Source: Hwang and Ng (2013)

Essential skills	E-dum- Fotwe and McCaffler (2000)	Odusami (2002)	Fraser (1999)	Tett et al. (2000)
Basic technical skill	Х	Х	Х	
Site layout and mobilization	Х		Х	
Estimating and tendering	Х		Х	
Design activities and background	Х		Х	
Reading and understanding drawing	Х		Х	
Technical writing, Drafting contract	Х		Х	
Leadership	Х	Х	Х	
Decision Making	Х	Х		Х
Problem solving	Х	Х		Х
Negotiation	Х	Х		
Human behavior	Х			
Delegation	Х		Х	Х
Team working	Х		Х	
Stress handling	Х	Х		
IT skill	Х			
Presentation and Report Writing	Х			Х
Public speaking	Х			Х
Marketing and Sales	Х			
Chairing meeting and Public relation	Х		Х	

Table 2.2 - Summary of Skills

Source: Hwang and Ng (2013)

The above tables showed the important link between knowledge and skills of team member in the execution of project management successfully in construction project. In fact, the success of project management in construction project vitally depends on the competence of their technical knowledge and skill and the structure of team member to suit the assigned project (Harrison and Lock, 2004).

The next part of this literature review is going to review the different requirements of team structure in different functions and phases of the project.

2.3 Team Structure Arrangement

Project management team for construction projects are differed from project to project due to the different scope of work of each project, therefore the arrangement of team structure for project management in construction is not a simple task to compare with project management in other industry (Cornick and Mather, 1999).

The arrangement of the team structure is usually based on the experience of each team member in the required field to deliver the project management for the specific project (Jefferies et al., 1999). During the construction period, only key members of the team are full time and other technical specialists are part-time or to complete the task early when their fields of expertise are completed (Cornick and Mather, 1999). To ensure the completion of the project, the responsibility of the project management is rested heavily on the key members of the team, including team leader, contract manager, commercial manager, construction programmers, etc. (PMBok, 2013).

Regardless of the difference of the scope of work of the projects and the different arrangement of the team structure to suit the project, the team structure and team member have to complete the assigned tasks individually to ensure the success of the project (Lock, 1996).

Sobkowiak (2003) offered the requirement of elements of the team structure being efficiency, flexibility and co-ordination as illustrated in figure 2.1 – Goals relevant to the team structure.



Figure 2.1 – Goals relevant to the team structure

Source: Sobkowiak (2003)

In order to obtain the mentioned goals, the team selection of the individuals to match the elements of efficiency, flexibility and co-ordination is so important. Practically, beside the requirement of skills to suit the project, each individual has to have the personal ability to work in group for the co-ordination, to deliver the assigned tasks for the efficiency and to be able to adapt with the team culture for the flexibility.

2.3.1 Type of team structure

In project management, generally there are three (3) types of the team structures of functional structure, matrix structure and project-based structure (Larson, 2004). The brief description, strengths and weaknesses of each type of the mentioned team structure are illustrated in table 2.3 – Summary of type of team structure.

No.	Description	Strengths	Weaknesses		
1.	Functional Structure	e			
	Authority to manage is determined by the relationship between project functions and activities.	 Economies of scale within functions. Internal efficiency, in-depth skill development, specialization, high quality. Best for small companies. Keep staff located in their unit organizations with only one or a few products. 	 Slow response time to environmental changes. Process orientation (getting it done within discipline approach rather than the best way it works). Decisions may pile-up on top; hierarchy overload. Poor inter-unit coordination. Less innovation. Restricted view of organization goals. 		
2	Matrix Structure Authority to manage is shared between functional managers in the project.	 High level of integration (sharing skilled people and resources). Improved communication (due to high level of integration). Suited to complex decisions and frequent changes in unstable environment. Provides opportunity for functional and project/product skill development. Best in highly uncertain environments and organizations with multiple products and project based work. 	 Causes participants to experience dual authority: frustrating and confusing. Means participants need good interpersonal skills and extensive training. 		

Table 2.3 – Summary of type of team structure

No.	Description	Strengths	Weaknesses
3.	Project-Based Struc		
	Authority to manage is fully responsible by the project manager to run the project.	 Clear authority and responsibility. Improved communication. Is suited to rapid change in unstable environment. Improves coordination among company. Divisions of work are on the projects. Best in large organizations with several projects. No functional organization interfaces to manage. There is only one executive, the Project Manager. 	 Duplication of effort (various projects may require resources that are duplicated on other projects). Project isolation (each project may be thought as a self – contained unit, so the project may become isolated from other projects in the organization). Technical experts have no professional headquarters.

Source: Adapted from Larson (2004).

On the above analysis of description, strengths and weaknesses of the three types of team structure, the selection of the appropriate team structure could be briefed as follows:

- (i) The functional structure has authority to share between the functional department and the group activities. The competition to complete the works of each department makes the scope of the project to be overlapped and non-transparent. The acceptance of sharing the leadership role (authority to act) (Carson et al., 2007; Hiller et al., 2006; Pearce and Conger, 2003) could not provide the necessary rapid decision on management and technical in the construction environment. So the functional structure is not suitable for the team structure of project management for construction projects.
- (ii) The matrix structure creates the overlap of authority on team members. The order to complete a task could be interfered by other parallel activities or orders. The strength of the matrix structure is the support of top of various layers of management to provide the share of resources (Kerzner, 2001;

Tinnirello, 2001) but in the team structure, resources of construction projects can not be shared due to the different discipline of each different department in the team. So the matrix structure is also not suitable for the team structure of project management for construction projects.

(iii) The project-based structure is always applied for the project management in construction project in which the full authority to manage the project is on the project manager (Hartmann & Bresnen, 2011). The project-based structure is preferred by the projects in construction industry with the characteristics of the complexities in different technical disciplines (Hillson and Simon, 2007). Each project is an entity itself with the requirements to deliver an expected cost, schedule and quality. So the project-based structure is the most suitable for the team structure in project management for construction projects.

2.3.2 Team structure selection – Project-based structure

The comparison of three different types of team structure of Functional Structure, Matrix Structure and Project-Based Structure has given the selection type for project management in construction to be Project-based structure.

The project-based structure is formed with different figurations to suit the need of managerial focus on each type and size of different projects and could be easy to modify to suit different phases of the project (Cattani et al., 2011 and Whitley, 2006). The selection of project-based structure in a construction project is mostly based on the sole decision-making authority to make the team operate their function under a centralized project director.

The project-based structure provides the focus of all team members toward the delivery of the success of the project under the centralized project director. The projects are constantly in the environment of changing in the process with logical constraints and technical involvements; therefore, the handling of the project management in team structure is needed to have the centralization control (Chitkara, 2014; Cooke, 2014; Fewings, 2012; Winch, 2009 and Loosemore & Uher, 2003). Under the project director, there are department leaders to take care of the specialized department of the project.

The centralized authority of the project director creates the independence of the project team from the headquarter organization and it also grants too much power to a project director in both management and technical decisions. In order to

strengthen of the weaknesses of the project-based structure of being the self-unit and technical expert lacking of professional headquarter involvement in the decision making, all projects which apply the project-based structure now have a representative from the head office in the team structure. The representative of the head office who is usually in the executive position of the organization acting as project executive could review and interact on the management of the team. The representative of the head office could also mobilize other technical experts at home base or from other project to come to assist the team at any time needed (Seningen, 2011).

In the large scale construction project (project value more than USD 100 Million) divided into multiple similar packages, the project-based structure generates the "core team" on top of the department level to provide the technical and management assistance to all the departments.

The term "core team" is not popular in project management in other industries but it is quite common in project management of construction industry (Cobb, 2012; Hartman, 2000, Haugen, 2010; Robles, 2009; and Wysocki, 2009). Many complex projects, the core team which consists of project experts in different fields is formed to provide strategic technical and management issues to the normal team set-up. The core team is acting as the "headquarter" of the team structure to provide all the answers and instructions not only on technical issues but also on the management of the resources of the team. The method of the setting up of the core team is varied to suit the requirement of the experts and the construction phase of the project but regardless of the type of project, the core team has to have the key technical experts to assist multiple sub-teams to successfully deliver the tasks of the project management of the project.

The setting up of the core team is very useful in the project with multiple similar sub-teams but the function of the core team and the department of the team need to be clarified clearly to avoid the overlap in the authority of the issuance of instruction and the authority to act on behalf of the team.

In the subject of team structure of project management, many studies have linked the team structure of the organization to the team structure of the project management for successful delivery of the project. The link was emphasized due to the importance of the organizational culture and behavior to provide the lead to the team structure (Brown, 2008; Andersen et al., 2009). But in construction projects, the team structure is not required to follow the organization team or to follow the culture and behavior of the organization because each project has its own culture and behavior and the team structure only needs to have the full back-up of the organization on mobilization, the assigning of the appropriate technical members and its management system to be selected for the project.

Wallace (2007) indicated that the team structure in construction could be adjusted to suit the completion phase of the project and the team structure of project management for construction projects generated its own function to meet the requirements of the project. It is a fact in project management for construction projects due to the different phase of construction to be completed for the carrying out of the next phase with the different function of management. Therefore, the team structure of the construction projects should be independent from the structure of the organization.

2.4 Team Member Selection on cost, time, and quality management concepts

The balance and the effectiveness of the team structure in project management for construction projects have to be satisfied before commencing the management of the project (Mello and Rucks, 2006). The performance of required task of each team member is essential because the performance of the team depends on each team member contribution in the project management task (Templar, 2011).

As mentioned previously, the project-based type structure is selected to apply in project management in construction; it means that the team members of each department are independent in the assigned works under the team leader – project director. There are different types of leadership in management but in construction projects, the team leader – project director – is the center of all the project management activities for construction project and is required to have a good technical background, experience in the field and the ability to manage the team and manage the project on the concept of cost, time and quality (Andi et al., 2004; Toor and Ofori, 2008).

The project director requires to gather the team members on the different qualifications and backgrounds to work together to obtain the objectives of the project (Moore, 2002; Muller & Turner, 2007). The objectives of the project should be delivered by the team but the team is driven by each member, therefore, the objectives of the project have to be comprehensive clearly by each individual of the team to ensure the success of the project.

The process of the selection of each team member to suit the formation of the team structure is crucial for the delivery of the project management for the project (Belbin, 2007).

Many studies have been conducted with the guidance to select the team members on the following criteria (Liker, 2004; Slevin & Pinto, 2004; Galbraith and Lawler III, 1993).

- Comprehensiveness on the objectives of the project.
- Having the right Project Director.
- Having the technical skills on project needs.
- Having the technical back-up if needed.
- Monitoring the performance of each team member on the process of the project.

Beside the common mentioned requirements, the technical skill is a necessary requirement for any team member in project management for construction projects as the team members in the team structure are always expected to be the technical experts in the assigned discipline as well as the management members of the project (Burke, 2006 and Chitkara, 2014). The need of the technical skill and the management skill for construction projects is illustrated in figure 2.2 – Intersecting Management Skills.



Figure 2.2 – Intersecting Management Skills

Source: Burke (2006)

It is quite difficult to define a selection method for the team structure in construction projects in literature, including the guidance of PMBok and PMI Handbook due to the big gap difference in the kind of construction projects. However, the selection of the team members could be based on the job-task and individual experience on the required expertise field (Crawford, 2005).

In order to compose a team for the construction projects, only the Project Director is identified together with the in-house available technical team up to the contract award. The Project Director then selects the Department Manager to suit the project tasks and to have the extensive experience on the assigned field (Ogunlana et al., 2002). The next level of resources under the Department Manager is identified mostly on the technical background and the knowledge of the local conditions in the expertise field to assist the Department Manager to complete the assigned tasks (Thompson, 1996).

Every project has its own construction schedule based on the scale of the project which defines the length of the period of construction. The employment for the team members in construction projects is not usually classified as long term employment; therefore, the control of the performance of each team member and individual behavior is also a big task for the Project Director (Cheng et al., 2005). To avoid the problem in the replacement of unsuitable team members that could cause the interruption of the progress of the project, the Project Director should prepare the "Task Description" to each department manager on the selection of the demanded quality and quantity of the resources. The selection of the lower level team members may need to look for the additional personal skills beside the technical skills (Luthans et al., 2008).

Antoniadis (2012) stated that team members in project management of construction projects should need to process the following personal skills:

- Being innovative and open minded.
- Being team player.
- Being presented and respectful.
- Being adapted in any working environment.
- Being of comprehensiveness of the assigned tasks.

Agreeing with the mentioned characteristic of team members, but in addition to the qualification to suit the assigned position and the mentioned personal skills to blend with the team, another important issue for the selection of right team members is the record on the code of ethics and conduct of the selected team members on the previous projects.

The blend in or the cohesiveness between the team members is the key for the successful performance of the team (McShane – Von Glinow, 2002). Figure 2.3 illustrates the relation between the performance of the team and the cohesiveness between the team members.





Source: McShane-Von Glinow (2002)

There was rare literature to study about the method of selecting the team members for construction projects, but all studies agreed that the right composition of the team members is vital for the performance of the team. The performance of the team having the ability to adapt and to blend in quickly in project environment is essential for the isolated team composition in project-based structure for construction projects (DeRue et al., 2008; Gibson and Vermeulen, 2003 and LePine, 2003).

The three key issues of cost, time and quality are determined to evaluate the performance of construction projects (Winter & Szczepanek, 2009). It is difficult to separate any issue of the three for the evaluation because all three issues of cost, time and quality are all related in the project in which the team structure on the project based organization has to assign appropriate and experienced resources to undertake and co-ordinate to ensure the control of the three issues (Hillson & Simon, 2007).

The assignment of the Contract Manager, Quantity Surveying Manager, QA/QC Manager and the Construction Program Manager in the team is the key to control the performance of cost, time and quality. The management of the cost by Quantity Surveying team, the management of schedule by Construction Program team, and the management of quality by QA/QC team with the co-ordination of the Contract team in relation to the signed contract have to be clearly assigned to each

manager. The co-ordination between the mentioned positions is very important in the management of the key issues of cost, schedule and quality.

The ability of the assigned resources and the good communication system between them are essential for the management of the cost, time and quality in the construction projects (Dlakwa and Culpin, 1990; Kaming et al., 1997; and Koushki et al., 2005).

Besides the specialist and technical team member involved in the management and control of the three key issues, in construction project, the administration and the document controls which are very important to ensure all the changes in design or on-site modification and the instructions from technical exports are filed and sent to the appropriate parties. The position of the document control manager and administration manager looks like very low key to compare with all other technical position managers but the appropriate and effective document control manager and administration manager together with the designed software could prevent significantly of the arisen problems in the three key issues (Lee et al., 2005).

In contrast, many studies stated the application of the available software to assist the management of cost, time and quality (Erbas and Erbas, 2013; Exman, 2013). The ability and knowledge of the related team members are actually the key on the cost, time and quality management.

Practically, another issue regarding the management of the cost, time and quality in team structure is that the team members should understand the construction regulation together with the culture and political of the project location.

The team members with the full knowledge of the construction regulations would be able to avoid all the unpredicted cost incurred or the delay in construction schedule (Sonuga et al., 2002; Iyer and Jha, 2005; and Baloi & Price, 2003).

Most of the previous studies discussed the method and the management system on the management of the concept of cost, time and quality in construction projects, some studies discussed the team management on the management of the subject but none has directly studied on the impact of the assignment of an individual to provide the required management on the issue.

2.5 Team Structure in Design Management

Architectural and engineering design for a construction project is involved in many stakeholders such as architect, structural engineer, mechanical and electrical engineer, building service engineer, fire protection engineer, etc. which generate very difficult managerial problems for project management team (Formoso et al., 2002). The complexity of managerial problems in the design phase could only be solved with technical knowledge and ability to provide the interactions between all professional disciplines in the project (Sebastian, 2005).

However, design management traditionally has been approached with the coordination from the different professionals involved in the design of the assigned project (Press and Cooper, 2002). These approaches are not sufficient for design management concept on following client's requirements to meet high-quality design solutions through shorter timescale and approved budget of the project; therefore, design management is needed to solve the gap in construction project. Design management is a necessary function of a project management team to improve the design process, creating high quality innovative through cost control planning and to get the better flow in the design. Therefore, team member of the project management to provide design management has to have technical skill to understand the design in coordination with other disciplines, cognitive skill to approach the specialty and limitation of the designer and social skill to interact between different disciplines of designers (Cross and Clayburn, 1995 and Mozota, 2003). Figure 2.4 illustrates main elements in Collaborative Design Management.



Figure 2.4 – Main elements in Collaborative Design Management

Source: Veidekke (2013)

The project management team to provide design management has to follow the two (2) different processes of design such as aiming for the understanding of nature design activities (Lawson et al., 2003) or aiming for focusing on different stages of the design (Kagioglou, 1998). Regardless of the design process, each team member of the management team needs to have appropriate skill in design discipline and capability to understand the concept of design or to comprehend clearly each different phase of the design in order to successfully manage the design. The main problems in design management which are poor communication, lack of adequate documentation, missing input information, lack of coordination between disciplines and erratic decision making are all related to the most important factor of resources allocation in the project management team (Cornick, 1991; Austin et al., 1994; and Koskela, 1997).

The project management team should be able to control and monitor the design team by establishing the design brief for each discipline; the design planning to clearly define time and cost of the project, the information management, and the coping with design changes (Cockshaw, 2001).

The team member of project management team has to create a design planning in order to coordinate time factor on the design from each discipline and their sequences (Austin et al., 1994). It is important to have a team member to comprehend cost estimation of the project in order to manage the estimated cost of the proposed project within the budget as it is now recognized that the construction cost of the project heavily depends on quality of the design management (Austin et al., 1998). The project management team member has to define clearly the concept of design and to clarify the demand of each design phase to manage the resource of the design team and to ask for the replacement of the unsuitable resource of design team (Koskela et al., 1997). The decision on the judgment of the design team is vital to avoid not only the initial delays but also the escalation of further problems in construction phase (Love et al., 2000).

The processing of information to all disciplines in an assigned project still is a big problem in management design (Kagioglou et al., 1998). The releasing of information from clients, compulsory regulation or changes of design function has never been clearly delivery to all related parties due to lack of information management team member who should be acting as a site clerk of the construction project site (Formoso et al., 1998). This team member of the project team need to be predominantly through schedule to ensure the on-time delivery in sequence to all design team members (it should be noted that there are sometimes more than 15 disciplines to be involved in design of construction project such as architect, structural engineer, mechanical and electrical engineer, fire protection engineer, façade engineer, foundation engineer, quantity surveyor, interior architect, kitchen design specialist, pool and water specialist, audio specialist, building information modeling (BIM) specialist, lift specialist, security specialist, sound and heat insulation specialist, lighting specialist, etc. and the list still goes in many complex projects). The information management in design is become the basic phase for project management for construction project, the next phase of project of tender and construction.

Due to the poor coordination, lack of delivery of necessary information on-time to different team members of the design team, and changing of function of the project, design changes have happened in almost every project during design phase to affect the delivery time and increasing cost of the project (Love et al., 2000). The design management process demands all the above-mentioned constraints to be coordinated and solved on the decision of project leader, this process contains the six preconditions for design tasks (Veidekke, 2013). The figure 2.5 illustrates the six preconditions for design tasks.



Figure 2.5 – The six preconditions for design tasks

Source: Veidekke (2013)

The six preconditions for solving all constraints in design management process are clarified as follows:

- Coordinating design tasks to ensure the tasks are fully covered by all disciplines.
- (ii) Understanding design tasks to comply with the client's requirements and design solution.
- Processing of information to ensure the required information is sent to all stakeholders on time.
- (iv) Making decisions to take responsibility for undertaking decisions.
- (v) Manning to provide appropriate human resources with ability and competence.
- (vi) Setting a suitable methodology to adapt the required design tasks.

Based on the six preconditions for solving all constraints, the project management team structure should allow having a team member to have the right to make quick decision on solving any design changes to avoid the disruptions of schedule delay and increasing of the project cost (Mokhtar et al., 2000).

2.6 Team Structure for Tender Management

Tendering in construction is defined as "the process of preparing and submitting for acceptance a technical and commercial proposal after to carry out work for a price, thus converting the estimate to a bid" (Baker and Champion, 2008). The aim of tender process is to evaluate and to select the contractor who appropriately satisfies the terms and conditions of the Client, and the design consultant to construct the assigned project to match the key constraints of cost, time and quality with the acceptable commercial value of the project. Tender process is very important in selecting an appropriate contractor with the most economic-financial proposal to complete the project on time and achieve a specified quality for the project. To produce the expected result, the appointment of team member to conduct all necessary procedures is the key for successful tender. The team member has to have the skill to evaluate the ability and the risk in awarding the contract to the selected contractor. The tender process consists of two separate phases of Tender Preparation and Tender Evaluation. Table 2.4 illustrates phase of contractor selection in post qualification public tendering with one file.
Table 2.4 – Phase of contractor selection in post qualification public
tendering with one file

Phase	Stage
A. Bid preparation	1. Planning of goods/service providers selection
	2. Selection of procurement system
	3. Determining method for qualification evaluation
	 Determining schedule for selecting goods/services provider
	5. Drawing out of goods and services procurement document
	Determining owner estimated.
B. Bidding process	Post qualification, one file:
	1. Announcement
	2. Registration and bidding documents obtaining
	3. Information session
	4. Bid document submission
	5. Bid document solicitation
	6. Bid evaluation
	Qualifications evaluation
	8. Qualification verification
	9. Preparing minutes of tender results
	10. Determining tender winner
	11. Award announcement
	12. Disclaimer
	13. Refusal of appeal (if required)

Source: President Regulation No. 70, 2012

Traditional Tender Process

Tender process is classified as the most frequently encountered corruption behaviour in construction industry (Sohail and Cavill, 2008). In order to proceed with the tender process, tender document should be prepared in accordance with the final design document, specifications of all related works (to define the quality of the supplied material, method of construction and quality of workmanship) and Bill of Quantity set (to describe the quantity of each related works of the whole project) (Stader, 1997). To avoid any collusion in the tender process, the project management team has to assign a contract specialist to look at closely at the specifications and terms and conditions to participate in tender as many specifications and terms and conditions to participate the tender based on strong finance and broad experience in the assigned field only applying to a few contractors (Ward and Chapman, 1988). The next step of the tender process after tender preparation is issuance of the tender document and tender evaluation. The tender evaluation is undertaken by the selected multi-disciplinary committee to assess the tender on legal and technical compliance with the utmost important issue of cost to match performance analysis. Most of tender evaluation process goes through two phases of pre-qualification for eliminating the non-complying with tender requirements and selection phase for evaluation cost/performance and negotiation of terms and conditions of the proposed contract (Standard Tender, 2010). Figure 2.6 illustrates building blocks of the tender evaluation methodology.



Figure 2.6 – Building blocks of the tender evaluation methodology

The contract specialist of the project management team needs to preview all the necessary actions on pre-qualification and on evaluation of the tender and then to review the selection result to ensure the tender process being transparency and compliance with the regulation and appropriate procedures by the Tender Evaluation Committee. The assigned team member also has to provide coordination with design team to clarify all unclear technical issues during the tender process. Figure 2.7 illustrates the tender phases up to financial close.

Source: Mateus, 2010



Figure 2.7 – The tender phases up to financial close

Source: CIC, 1998; Ahadzi and Bowles, 2001

E-Tender Process

In order to quicken and provide transparency in tender process, e-tender has been introduced to carry out the entire tender process including pre-qualification, submission technical and financial proposals for tender evaluation and announcement of awarding tender publicly online (Kerridge et al., 2000). However, e-tender process has shown many problems such as lack of technology understanding, heavy dependence on training of professional human resources. These mentioned problems actually result in impacts on transparency, competency of the tender value and mixing up the tender sequences (Costa et al., 2013). Due to many illegal practices to get through the tender process such as counterfeiting the qualified document and submitting hidden cost of tender, unfortunately, e-tender has not been able to detect distortion (Hanak, 2015).

Many researches have been conducted on the applying of e-tender to show that there are still many problems on the process and more difficult to detect and prevent cheating on tender process, especially collusion conspiracy between participants (Costa et al., 2013). Therefore, it is a lot of caution in applying e-tender process over the general concern over security and legal issues as the unguarded use of electronic technology has generated contradictory effects between efficiency and security (Laryea, 2011).

To make e-tendering being effective and popular to apply in tender process, it should include appropriate security factor to increase the reliability of the system.

2.7 Team Structure in Establishing Construction Contract – FIDIC Forms

A tender which is judged successfully has a good qualification and evaluation process to select the most appropriate contractor to undertake the construction works specified in the tender. But these successes have to formalize in a document called "Construction Contract" between Client and the Contractor. To simplify the contractual issues, an international organization based in Geneva called Federtion Internationale De Ingenieurs-Conseils (International Federation of Consulting Engineers), in short FIDIC, has been instrumental in the evolution of various standard forms of contracts used widely worldwide in construction works. All international funders such as Asia Development Bank (ADB), World Bank (WB) – have adopted FIDIC standard forms with suitable modifications for applications in the works.

The table 2.5 below gives a brief overview of FIDIC contracts to date:

FIDIC contract	Year released	Notes
The (old) Red Book	First published in 1957, the fourth and final edition was published in 1987, with a supplement added in 1996.	These contracts were aimed at the civil engineering sector, as differentiated from the mechanical/electrical engineering sector.
The (old) Yellow Book	First published in 1967 with the third and last edition in 1987.	These contracts were aimed at the mechanical/electrical engineering sector.
The Orange Book	The first and only edition of this contract was released in 1995.	This was the first design and build contract released by FIDIC.
The (new) Red Book	Released in 1999.	The Red Book is suitable for contracts that the majority of design rests with the Employer.
The (new) Yellow Book	Released in 1999.	The Yellow Book is suitable for contracts that the contractor has the majority of the design responsibility.
The Silver Book	Released in 1999.	The Silver Book if for turnkey projects. This contract places significant risks on the contractor. The contractor is also responsible for the majority of the design.
The Pink Book	First published 2005 – an amended version was published 2006, with a further edition in June 2010.	This is an adaptation of the Red Book created to fit the purposes of Multilateral Development Banks.
The Gold Book	Released in 2008.	This is FIDIC's first Design-build and operate contract.

Table 2.5 - Brief Overview of FIDIC contracts to date

Source: Udom (2014)

Other contracts in the FIDIC family include the FIDIC sub-contract, *The Blue Book*, which is concerned with dredging and reclamation works, and *The White Book*, which is for the engagement of consultants by Employers.

Although the FIDIC family covers a wide range of contracts, there are some common features of Presentation of FIDIC and Dispute Resolution of FIDIC clarified as follows:

Content of FIDIC

FIDIC is usually divided in two parts: Part I consisting of the general conditions and Part II concerning the conditions of particular application (including guidelines for the preparation of Part II clauses). Part I contains the general terms of the contract, such issues as rights and obligations of each party, procedure for payment, variation, certification and dispute resolution.

Part II of the contract is the conditions of particular application and is to be used to introduce project specific clauses, such as language of the contract, choice of law, the name of the person or firm appointed to act as Engineer or Employers representative for the project among other terms. The appendix usually contains sample of documents to be used for the procurement process.

In most FIDIC forms there is a default hierarchy for the documents forming the contract. The order of priority is as stated below and in the event of inconsistency the first on the list takes precedence:

- 1. The Contract Agreement
- 2. The Letter of Acceptance (this is the formal acceptance of the contractor's tender and marks the formation of the contract).
- 3. The Letter of Tender
- 4. Part II the conditions of particular application
- 5. Part I general conditions of contract
- 6. The Specifications and Drawings (*Red Book*), The Employer's Requirements (*Yellow Book*), the Schedules (*Red and Yellow Books*)
- 7. Further documents (if any), listed in the Contract Agreement or in the Letter of Acceptance.

The parties are allowed to rearrange the priority of documents or stipulate that no priority or order of hierarchy will apply to the contract. This can be done in Part II of the contract.

Dispute resolution of FIDIC

FIDIC contracts adopt a multi-tier dispute resolution process. The emphasis in recent years has been on the amicable settlement of disputes. The process usually provides as a first step, for disputes to be submitted for adjudication before an Engineer or a Dispute Board. If one (or both) of the parties is dissatisfied, a period is allowed for amicable settlement. If the parties are not able to settle the dispute during the "amicable settlement" period, the final stage is to proceed to arbitration. FIDIC contracts provide as a default position that the arbitration rules of the International Chambers of Commerce should apply in the arbitration of disputes arising from the contract.

FIDIC has also arranged many training courses every year to help project managers, owners, contractors, etc. to understand for selecting the appropriate FIDIC contract for different types of projects.

The project management team needs to have a contract specialist to assist the tender team in monitoring and advising on the contract form to reflect all the agreements during contract negotiation and to protect both the client and contractor in the contract equally.

2.8 Team Structure in Contract Management

A construction contract is a legal bidding document to reflect all terms and conditions of the execution/construction to be specified in tender process between the Client and selected contractor. During construction period, the construction of contract is a guideline for all legitimate rights of all related parties in construction of the project. It is very difficult to change or modify the contract as it is legal agreement for execution for construction period of construction, there are many variations in construction cost, replacing materials and extension of construction time, etc., to solve these problems, a contract management specialist is needed to be included in a team structure as a key person of the team to perform a specialty function to have solution quickly on any type of dispute to ensure no delay on the construction of the project (Andi at el., 2004). It is important that the contract management specialist has to coordinate with all disciplines of the team to analyze the perform-in-depth of contractor and to act quickly on all necessary corresponding countermeasures.

Key issues need to have closely management by the project management team to ensure the successful delivery of project in accordance with sighed contract to be:

Contract Administration and Record Keeping

In construction project, correspondences between stakeholders of the project are the evidences on contract execution in association with the signed contract. All records of submitted specifications on all materials and workmanship which are also subjected of claim and dispute need to be kept carefully to compare with the original tendered set of drawings and specifications of the contract.

Roles and Responsibilities of Contract Management Team

Due to the complexity of construction project, especially in contract management to involve with legal system, knowledge in construction and construction materials, so the contract management team should have a contract manager to comply with the signed contract and all variations and disputes together with the Procurement Manager to comply with commercial value of the contract. Table 2.6 illustrates procurement and contract manager roles.

Area of Responsibility	Contract Manager Role	Procurement Role
Supplier Management	 Day to day management of the supplier Perform regular operational meetings with supplier Resolve operational issues as they arise Monitor performance data and Address non- conformance 	 Ensure signed contract is in place between both parties Monitor spend and compliance to approved contract
Invoicing and Payment	 Ensure invoices comply with contracted rates Ensure payment is made to supplier within payment terms Invoice disputes and dispute resolution 	 Ensure invoices are compliant and paid according to the terms of the contract Manage contract related payment disputes
Contract Administration	 Participate in the establishment of and understand the operation of the Contract and Supplier Management Plan Place purchase requisitions Organise work requests Advise the Procurement Team of any changes in scope/product/service supplier 	 Establish and reconfirm the Contract and Supplier Management Plan Process purchase requisition and issue PO Ensure a contract file is maintained that meets audit requirements Negotiate changes in scope/product/service and associated terms and pricing in consultation with the contract manager
Compliance and Monitoring	 Comply with contract terms Engage with Procurement and or supplier to resolve supplier/end-user generated complaints regarding contract compliance 	 Ensure two-way communication with the supplier. Facilitate resolution of unresolved issues that occur in between review meetings by: Bringing the Business Owner & Supplier together to solve issues Ensuring agreement on action plans between the Business
Continuous Improvement	 Formulate, implement and monitor improvement plans stemming from regular contract review meetings and noncompliance issues to ensure supplier is performing at expected levels/KPI's 	 Facilitate improvement plans stemming from regular contract review meetings to ensure Supplier performing at expected levels/KPI's
Contract Review – Lessons Learnt	 Participate in strategic contract review to determine future of contract at expiry 	 Facilitate strategic contract review meetings to determine future of contract at expiry (e.g.: contract extension, new tender process etc.)

Table 2.6	- Procurement	and Contract	Manager Roles
			Manager Noies

Source: Jorgensen (2018)

Performance Management

The contract management responsibility for this issue is associated closely with engineers and construction supervision to assess the performance of the contractor in quality, time and agreed cost to be assigned in the contract. Any assessment of nonperformance of contractor needs to have closely monitoring by management team to reverse the situation quickly.

Negotiating Contract Variations

Any construction project has allowed for reasonable contract variations in practice. However, the management team needs to assess on the circumstances to accept or not to accept the variations and if it is accepted, the management team needs to evaluate the variation and to obtain agreement by all stakeholders of the project in accordance with the terms in accordance with the signed contract.

Managing Contract Dispute

During the construction, many disagreements and disputes were raised due to construction method, construction practice on-site to compare with design on drawing board, replacement of material, understanding of the applied specifications, etc., the contract manager has to be able to arrange meeting with concerned parties to solve all disputes based on the signed contract. All disputes need to solve quickly in order to avoid the delay of the project and to have a fair commercial impact to concerned parties. Table 2.7 illustrates Dispute Resolution Process.

Negotiation	Negotiating between the Council and the Supplier is the most common approach to resolving disagreements and disputes. The intention of the negotiation is to reach a mutually acceptable solution, where both sides consider they have gained the best possible result in the circumstances. It is important that one party does not consider they have been unduly pressured to agree to a particular solution as a result of the negotiation as this can lead to an escalation or reappearance of the dispute at a later stage.
Mediation	Mediation involves the use of a neutral third party to assist in resolving the dispute. The mediator does not impose a decision on the parties in the way a court or arbitrator does, but instead seeks to help the parties resolve the dispute themselves. Mediation is usually regarded as a faster, less formal and less costly process than court proceedings or arbitration.
Arbitration	The aim of arbitration is to obtain a final and enforceable result without the costs, delays and the formalities of litigation. Arbitration proceedings are private, can be held at a mutually convenient time and the actual proceedings are less complex than litigation.
Litigation	Litigation is the act or process of contesting a lawsuit or seeking redress through the courts. It can be an expensive and time consuming procedure and is generally taken when other avenues of dispute resolution have not been successful or are not available. Other approaches to resolving disputes or Supplier defaults should therefore be considered prior to litigation.

Table 2.7 – Dispute Resolution Process

Source: Jorgensen (2018)

Contract Completion

The project management team is still on the job after construction is completed because the contract could only be discharged after the certification of satisfactory quality of the performance of the contract and all commercial of the contract is agreed and signed off by all concerned parties. The completion time of the contract is around 3-6 months after the construction completion; therefore, the project management team needs to have available personnel for contract completion to stay on the project.

Staff Requirement for Contract Management

To be considered the key role in project management scope, contract management needs to be implemented throughout the project and the contract management should be divided into different stages with different kinds of tasks and priorities such as pre-contractual, contractual and post-contractual stages (Van Weele, 2013). Understanding of requirements and status of each stage is vital for contract management to identify problems and have solutions related to the next stage for the successful delivery of the project (Liu et al., 2014).

Contract management function is described to be a vital function of project management; therefore, the selection of appropriate personnel is a difficult task. Figure 2.8 illustrates Personnel for contract management.



Figure 2.8 – Personnel for Contract Management

Source: Liu, 2015

2.9 Team Structure in Health Safety Environmental (HSE) Management

Health and Safety Management

To be considered as the most risky and accident-prone industry, the project management for construction projects now needs to have a qualified member of comprehensiveness of the management of Health and Safety for the project, including the workers and the public (Hughes and Ferrett, 2008).

Recently, Health and Safety of a project is classified as the successful factor of the performance of the project beside the three traditional key issues of cost, time and quality. The good management of Health and Safety could save a lot in cost during the construction and could create a good reputation for the project management team on the accident-free project.

One of the tasks of the Health and Safety Manager is to produce the Health and Safety Plan to be implemented by all the stakeholders of the project during construction (Hinze, 2008). The implementation of the Health and Safety Plan is compliance with the labor regulation and safety acts of the project country location. The coordination between the project owner, the contractor, the design engineer and project manager on the agreement of the Health and Safety Plan is vital for preventing the accidents and injuries at the construction site.

Another important task is to provide the training and the regular inspection on the safety issues as many studies have shown that the attitude of the stakeholders on the ignoring of the safety management plan, the requirement of protection gear and incompliance with the safety regulation are the most cause for accidents in the construction projects (Abdelhamid and Everett, 2000; Toole, 2002 and Hinze, 2008).

The success of the management of health and safety requires the support from the Project Director and all team members as the strictly application of health and safety measures may delay the construction schedule by stopping the workers to come to site without the protection gears or stopping the construction due to the unsafe procedure or equipment.

Experiences on the HSE management in the construction industry show that Health and Safety management could be considered as the investment with the high return for every stakeholder in the construction projects. The focus of the Health and Safety management during the construction is depended very much on the selection of the ability of the HSE manager in the team to take care of the compliance of the Health and Safety measures (National Safety Council, 2013).

Environmental Management

Construction projects are classified to be the main reason to create the environmental pollution (Shen et al., 2005). To be aware of this problem, the team structure for the management of construction project is now including the environmental specialist to follow the regulations of the environmental management (Lam et al., 2011). The environmental management should include the on-site mitigation for the potential impacts on ecosystem, natural resources and public (Li et al., 2010). The environmental specialist has to co-ordinate with other team members during the construction to ensure that the mitigation of the impact will not give effect to the cost, the construction schedule and the quality. For each project, the environmental specialist has to determine the kind of the environmental impacts and the information will be shared with other team members for preparing the Environmental Management Plan (EMP) before commencing the construction to reduce predicted impacts.

The construction industry is now applied widely the EMP to point out clearly the required activities during the construction but the mitigation of the EMP is not strictly implied due to the catch-up in the construction schedule, the cost-incurred in the green products, etc. (Von Malmborg, 2002).

The support of all team members on the application of the EMP is another important issue, it may require to have the strict application of the EMP order from the Project Director to all team members (Ravasi and Schultz, 2006). The environmental impact at construction site is not only happened on the dust, noise but also on the traffic and access, borrow site, ecology, hazardous materials and waste management. Therefore, the compliance with the EMP is essential to the construction site and the surrounding public areas.

The co-ordination of the environmental specialist in the team structure with the local authority on the environmental impact prevention frameworks, the contractor, the public, etc., during the construction is essential to prevent the environmental impact as it also produces the cost reduction in preventing the accidents and injuries related to the environmental impact (Christini et al., 2004 and Campos et al., 2013).

2.10 Team Structure in Ethical Management

To be considered as the most fraudulent industry (Transparency International, 2005), the construction industry especially on the project management for construction projects with the team structure remote from the head office is the perfect environment for the ethical testing (PMI, 2004).

The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) report in 2014 estimated up to USD 2.6 Trillion or approximately 5% of global Gross Domestic Product (GDP) being bribes annually in construction industry. Defining of corruption or unethical conduct in construction industry is to abuse the assigned authority to make a benefit on the expense of construction project (Le et al., 2014). The result of bribery in construction industry has made a big impact on the shorter lifespan of project, the collapse of project and claiming of human life (Lewis, 2003 and Hui, 2009). Many organizations in construction industry have developed and contributed management manual on preventing corruption such as ISO 3700 to manage and prevent bribery in construction issued by International Organization for Standardization (ISO) or Code of Ethics and Conduct issued by Project Management Institute (PMI).

In project management of construction projects, the Code of Ethics and Conduct stated by the Project Management Institute and the legal frameworks on fraud and bribery of the local authorities are the guidelines for all team structure in project management but in fact, in the construction industry, there is poor governance or framework on the management of ethical issues with very limited control and the strict management on ethical issues on the team structure to operate on the construction projects.

The lacking of the governance and regulation has generated the growing demand on the strengthening of the legal system on the correct ethical practice and professional behavior for each individual and the industry.

The un-ethics and dishonesty on the professional behavior of the project management team members creates the bad quality impact on the project (Rahman et al., 2007) and adds up the average of 25% of cost increase (Transparency International, 2005).

The common unethical behaviors in project management during the construction period are fraud and bribery. A person in a team could pass the quality of materials to receive a bribe or another person could approve a variation of the change order to receive a kickback on the approval. These unethical activities on getting a pass of the material or approval of invalid claim could be covered as professional mistake when these activities are found. The receiving of bribery or kickback is more difficult to be found or witnessed. Therefore, the bribery activities in construction are more on ethical issues than legal issues (Powpaka, 2002). It should be noted that all the described unethical activities are not happened during the working hours so the control and management of the Project Director or Department Manager on team members are inflective and eliminated.

The promotion of professional integrity of each team member in the team structure is another measure to prevent the unethical activities especially with the team members who have come to the project from different countries and backgrounds (Pearl et al., 2005). In many countries, unethical conduct may receive more severe punishment such as professional sanction or criminal conviction (Stansbury, 2009) in order to tackle various forms of corruption in construction industry directly on any involved team members of project management team.

2.11 Application of Project Management Software (PMS) on Project Management Team Structure

Information Technology (IT) has been applied for Project Management by introducing much PMS in order to assist the project management team that delivers the project in construction within the boundaries of key factors of time, cost and quality.

All available PMS make significant improvement on communication of project management, monitoring the status of the project, controlling project cost and project risk analysis (Izetbegovic et al., 2003).

In the relevant phases of project, application of software assists to project management significantly such as:

Design phase

With Computer-Aided Design and Drafting (CADD), the producing and reviewing of design are mostly depended on the input of design data from engineers on a design subject to give a result of the design (Lalit, 2008).

The design from software is much quicker for huge structure with software not only provides the optimized design but also gives the behaviors of structure to make long live of the structure (Screenivasa and Sitaram, 2014).

Tender and cost estimation

In preparation for tender and cost estimation, the software package has reduced the extensive work by producing the templates for each different kind of project with the market rate for each component of the project (Bhoseker and Vyas, 2012). The software also provides reviewing the required qualification for each tender to assist the acceptance of a tender bid.

Construction management phase

Primavera and MS Project are the most popular ones in application for project management in comparison with more than other dozen PMS which are available on the market. A survey on the usage of PMS is applied in both the US and Asia to show that Primavera and MS Project account for around 90% of the usage of PMS. Figure 2.9 and figure 2.10 show the usage of PMS in the US and Asia.



Figure 2.9 – The usage of PMS in the US

Figure 2.10 - The usage of PMS in the Asia



The application of PMS is now common practice for Project Director/Team Leader and all team members to eliminate the lack of communication between project team members. On other technical issues, PMS application still requires the team members to have specialty discipline to operate (Palvia et al., 2007). However, it should be noted that all software for engineering and project management demand the user to have full understanding and qualification in their technical field on the applying of these software. It means that the design software can only be applied by engineers to have qualification and to have design experience or the cost estimation software can only be applied by the qualified engineer to have qualification in cost control experience.

Therefore, the PMS application for Project Management for construction project still depends very much on the professional skill of all team members on its operation and the legal practice experience of the assigned team member on contract management. Even though the application has given all team members the status of the overall of the project, the monitoring of cost control and controlling of material on-site but it is vital to have an appropriate team member to solve other issues on design and construction.

2.12 Coordination between Project Management Team and Contractor

Beside the performance of project management team to provide project management for construction project, the successful delivery of construction projects are closely related to the performance of a selected contractor (Odeh and Battaineh, 2002). During tender period, the project management team makes the qualification screening in order to select a suitable contractor for the assigned project with key qualifications as follows (Salter & Torbett, 2003):

- Financial standing Proven record of financial stability with a surplus of their own funds for support to the awarded project.
- Technical ability Able to complete the project based on project experience, available plant and equipment, and available personnel.
- Management Capability Capable to handle quality management, performance management with workmanship and management knowledge according to

construction requirements.

 Current project in hand – Ensure to have the personnel to handle the project without backlog or financial problem from other projects.

However, in the modern time of project, in which the fund for the development project is contributed from many sources; therefore, it is not uncommon to see a contractor being selected directly from the project owner without any proper tender process due to various reasons such as being shareholders, providing construction finance or providing delay payment to the development project. Therefore, the project management team needs not only to provide the routine function of project management in all phases of the project but also to provide close coordination to ensure to have a clarification on the construction process from a contractor and to avoid any conflict of internet from the contractor of being part of the owner of the project and contractor to undertake the construction work of the project. It is important for the project management team to set up co-framework with the contractor to define clearly the qualification requirements to be submitted to project management unit for approval. In case, some qualification requirements are not met, the project management team has to report to the project owner for approval to proceed with the construction (Leung et. al., 2004).

It is clear that miscommunication between the project owner, team project manager and contractor is the main reason to contribute to the cause of delay; therefore, coordination between project management team and contractor to ensure communication line and obstacles during the construction should be transparency and closely for the benefit of the success of the project. III. THE CONTEXT - PROJECT MANAGEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION PROJECT AND TEAM STRUCTURE COMPOSITION

III. THE CONTEXT – PROJECT MANAGEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION PROJECT AND TEAM STRUCTURE COMPOSITION

3.1 Introduction

The literature review in Chapter 2 has produced a theoretical and conceptual framework for the study of project management team structure in construction project. The proposed team structure needs to cover management of all elements of project in order to make the assigned project management successfully in each phase of the project. The team structure composition has to include the strong team leader to take leadership and competent team members to contribute their disciplines and to coordinate with other team members to provide the project management process for construction project.

This chapter provides description and requirement of an appropriate team structure for each phase of a construction project to clarify the composition of project management team structure. Even this study focuses on team structure rather than project management process but it is also important to understand the process of project management in order to compose the structure of team with the suitable team leader and competent team members of the assigned project in every phase.

Therefore, this chapter of the study will focus on the context of the role of leadership and contribution of the assigned team member in different phases of the project. The correct replacement and staff planning of the assigned team members in different phases of the project is vital for project management of construction project as it would ensure the project management team always has right professional skills to monitor the process and complete the tasks in harmony with other team members.

3.2 Understanding Project Management Scope in Construction Project

There are many descriptions of project management in construction project depending on the assigned scope of project management of an assigned project. The traditional approach on project management concepts as described by Kalusche (2012) to be:

- (i) Organization, information, coordination and documentation.
- (ii) Quality and quantity
- (iii) Cost and cash-flow
- (iv) Due dates, capacities and logistics
- (v) Contracts and insurances

But many scholars argue that this approach is so broad and does not make an impact on project management scope (Koskinen and Pihlanto, 2008; Kelly et al., 2014; and Del Pico, 2013). The Project Management Institute (PMI) describes Project Management as the application of knowledge, skills, tools and methods for execution of any assigned project. PMI divided a project into five process groups such as initiation, planning, execution, monitoring and controlling. Figure 3.1 illustrates Process Group of Project.



Figure 3.1 - Process Group of Project

The mentioned process is applying along the lines of costs, time and quality to be called "Iron Triangle" in construction project (Atkinson, 1999). Figure 3.2 illustrates "Iron Triangle" in project management concept.



Figure 3.2 – Iron Triangle of Project Management

Source: PMI (2014)

Source: Atkinson (1999)

On the tradition of cost, time and quality, today project management team has to take care closely of social responsibility, environmental issue and economically viable impact not only to the stakeholders of the project but also to the society. The above issues are now regulated and must need approval from authorities in the most countries for proceeding with a construction project. Figure 3.3 illustrates Today Project Management Concept.



Figure 3.3 – Today Project Management Concept

Project management for construction project today also needs to contribute a transfer of knowledge and could be the main factor to mobilize professionalism in execution of knowledge in the assigned project (Kelly et al., 2013).

3.3 Understanding the key phase of Project Management in Construction Project

A typical and traditional phase of a construction project is divided into four phases of Initiation Phase, Planning Phase, Execution Phase and Closing Phase (PMI, 2008). However, the required phasing for a construction project in project management should be divided into six phases: Initial Phase, Design Phase, Tender Phase, Contractual Phase, Construction Phase and Close-out Phase. Figure 3.4 illustrates the Phases of Construction Project.

Source: Jennifer Russell



Figure 3.4 - the Phases of Construction Project

Source: Modification from PMI

In every different phase, the project management team has to handle different tasks; therefore, the different team structures with appropriate disciplines to handle the required tasks are vital for the success of project management for the construction project.

The change in professional of different disciplines is necessary to suit each phase of the project as some team members only need to contribute their discipline in limited time; for example, the professionals in architectural, structural, mechanical and electrical designs only require contributing their professional expertise in monitoring the design in design phase only.

3.4 Risk Management in Project Management for Construction Project

Risk management is another task of project management team and it is usually handled by Project Director/Team Leader of project management team. The risk management focuses on the "Iron triangle" - cost, time and quality - of project management. Global Survey of KPMG in 2009 has highlighted that the Bid Evaluation is the main risk of project management that leads to select the wrong contractor among other elements of risks. Figure 3.5 illustrates the most pressing elements of project risk management.



Figure 3.5 – Most pressing elements of project risk management

Source: KPMG International (2010b)

Today, construction projects become more and more complex with many sources of fund to one project; therefore, project management for construction project should look closely at legal structure, political issues and socioeconomic of each project to recognize the possible impact of these factors to the project (Bu-Qammaz, Dikmen and Birgonul, 2009).

The Project Director – Team Leader of project management team together with team members should proceed with the Risk Management Process to identify and categorize main risk areas (Gimscheid and Bush, 2008). Figure 3.6 illustrates the risk management process according to Project Management Institution (PMI).



Figure 3.6 – the Risk Management Process according to PMI

Source: PMI (2014); Tah and Carr (2001)

Based on the "iron triangle" of project management, risk of cost overrun, risk of time delay and risk of low quality of the project are looked at closely from every phase of the project.

Global Construction Survey 2008 gives the reasons for cost overrun and time delay in figure 3.7 – cost overrun and figure 3.8 – Most common causes of construction delays.





Source: KPMG International (2009)





The risk of low quality happens mostly in lacking construction supervision of construction works on-site and in controlling the specified materials. These problems are related to the composition of the appropriate team structure of project management team in construction phase.

All above-mentioned risks would be able to be avoided and reduced with careful management to have right team members to monitor all activities of every phase of the project together with carrying out Risk Management Process (Gutjahr, 2009).

3.5 Understanding Main Type of Contract in Construction

Traditional Construction Contract

A contract is established based on the tender document consisting of design document, design specifications and guidelines for costing. The contract could be on lump sum which all the risks are designated to the contractor in accordance with the above-mentioned tender document or it could be calculated based on the submitted unit price from a contractor.

The term "traditional contract" means that the tender procedure could only be proceeded with after the completion of design with all the required details of a proposed construction project. With sufficient information on the project from tender document, the contractor could easily estimate the cost of a project and method of construction within the defined time and quality scope.

During the construction period, if any change from the design or specifications against the tender document, a contractor has the right to make a claim for extra cost due to the changes.

For the traditional contract, the project management team should cover all activities in management from design, tender, contract negotiation and establishment of contract before proceeding to the construction phase.

Source: KPMG International (2010b)

Guarantee Maximum Price (GMP) Contract

A contract is also established based on the tender document consisting of design document, design specifications and guidelines for costing. But to price the cost of a project, a contractor has to cover all risks of overrun in the submitted cost as maximum price for the project. Any "value engineering" – changing the design to have the same project scale, but saving cost – from a contractor to save the cost of the project could be shared with the Client to be additional profit of the contractor.

In short, this GMP contract provides the incentive for the contractor to take full responsibility for the construction and to give them opportunity to look closely on providing better technical aspects to save the cost and time, but the same quality of the project.

For the GMP contract, the project management team needs to have a good technical team to provide the assessment on any proposed changes of technical design or method of construction from the contractor in order to save the cost or time of the project.

Design – Build Contract

A contract is established based on the conceptual design of a project in which the awarded contractor takes responsibility for undertaking the design function as well as construction of the project. This contract allows the Client – Project Owner – to have to deal with on source only rather than dealing with various parties to avoid the debating of responsibility between design consultant and contractor during the construction.

In order to arrange tender for Design – Build contract, the project management team needs to confirm on behalf of the Client on the conceptual with the determine scale of the project together with specifications on construction components. Cost estimate of the project which is established by the contractor could be negotiated during the contract negotiation period, depending on the budget of the Client (same scale of the project but quality of material making a bid difference on cost of the project).

For the Design – Build contract, the project management team needs to have a good technical team to review design to ensure to match with the required specification from the Client during design period and project management team needs to have good supervision on site to ensure the construction to completely comply with the design.

Engineering – Procurement – Construction (EPC) Contract

A contract is established to a contractor based on engineering, procurement and construction to perform the required works. This type of contract is applied for projects required to have a lot of supplied equipment such as manufacturing factory project, water supply project, waste-water supply project, etc. The reason for

including procurement components into a contract is to ensure the uniformity of design and installation of equipment during construction. For example, in the water supply project, equipment component contributes major cost of the project; therefore, the design and supplied equipment for the project are demanded to match on the same standard to ensure performance of the plant.

For EPC contract, the project management team has to have a technical team to review the design and more importantly to review equipment to be procured to match with the design before proceeding to the construction. When the construction completed, the project management team has to coordinate with the contractor to make the commission of the plant.

3.6 Team composition for Project Management – Project Director/Team Leader

Team composition for Project Management for construction project is based on project-based structure. With this team structure, the Project Director/Team Leader is a central person to take the leadership role on every activity, including the selection of appropriate team member on each phase, taking decision on every occasion to ensure the smoothly proceeding of the project, coordinating with all technical experts for any issue related to the project and taking complete responsibility for the performance of the team (Robinson et al., 2013).

The Project Director/Team Leader is the contact point for all stakeholders of the project, all communications and correspondences are considered the official statement of the project. The Project Director/Team Leader is the one to establish a project plan for every task and to monitor the execution of each task. In case, the project is fallen behind schedule or increase of budget, the Project Director/Team Leader would need to coordinate with team members to take immediate action to revert the situation and to report to all stakeholders of the project (Del Pico, 2013a).

The main tasks of the Project Director/Team Leader according to (Kalusche, 2012):

- (i). Planning project within time and the required workloads.
- (ii). Defining tasks and work packages.
- (iii). Selecting appropriate methods of construction.
- (iv). Coordinating and supporting team members.
- (v). Monitoring and controlling the project in term of cost, schedule and quality.
- (vi). Taking necessary action and decision to proceed with the project.
- (vii). Assisting and performing technical tasks.

(viii). Controlling documentation and reporting.

Moreover, Project Director/Team Leader also takes significant responsibility on the transfer of knowledge to the project.

3.7 Team composition for Project Management – Team members

Beside the competence of professional skill of each team member on the assigned task, each team member of team structure needs to participate in teamwork to be motivated to handle the task in accordance with the required time schedule, to be consistent and to have adaptability to work with different team members for the success of the project.

Many scholars have studied on the effective of team member by having multiple skills in management on project management (Spatz, 1998; Shanahan, 2001; Rasker et al., 2001; Blendel et al., 2002; Adam et al., 2002, Parker, 2008; and Ross et al., 2008). Table 3.1 illustrates comparison of elements of effective/high performing team from different researchers.

Table 3.1 – Comparison of elements of effective/high performing team from different researchers

Authors			Dealers	Disadat	A		Deser
Elements of	Spatz	Shanahan	Rasker et al.	Blendel et al.	Adam et al.	Parker	Ross et al.
effective/high	(1998)	(2001)	(2001)	(2002)	(2002)	(2008)	(2008)
performing team			(2001)	(2002)	(2002)		(2000)
Individual factors:							
a) Skills		Х	Х				
b) Personality				Х			
c) Status							
d) Knowledge		Х	Х	Х			
e) Abilities							
f) Attitudes		Х	Х			Х	Х
g) Mental Model							Х
h) Training		Х					
i) Experience				Х			
Team factors:							
a) Structure		Х	Х			Х	
 b) Norm/procedure 		Х		Х			
c) Size			Х				
 d) Effort on task 							
e) Composition		Х	Х	Х		Х	
f) Homogeneity							
g) Climate				Х	Х	Х	
h) Cohesiveness	Х		Х				
i) Organization						Х	
j) Leadership	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	
k) Team Building		Х					
 Team training 		Х					
Task:							
a) Strategies							
b) Performance							Х
c) Organization/			Х			Х	
structure							
d) Complexity			Х				
e) Type							
f) Accomplishment							
g) Work/load		Х	Х				
h) Interdependency			Х				

	Authors							
	lements of	Spatz	Shanahan	Rasker	Blendel	Adam	Parker	Ross
	ective/high	(1998)	(2001)	et al.	et al.	et al.	(2008)	et al.
	orming team	·····		(2001)	(2002)	(2002)		(2008)
	nergy		Х					
	aracteristics							
Process								
	ordination/	Х	Х			Х		
col	laboration							
. /	mmunication	Х			Х	Х	Х	Х
c) Co	nflict Solving					Х	Х	Х
	cision making						Х	
	blem solving					Х	Х	
	undary spanning							
	mpatibility	Х	Х					
	ality and isfaction				x			
Others:								
a) Ma	terial Resources	Х					Х	
b) Ob	jectives and	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х
goa	als							
	tivation			Х				
	sessment/	Х		Х		Х	Х	
	dback/audit/							
	nitoring							
- /	tual trust &	х			Х	Х	Х	
	nmitment/shared							
	ues ear roles and	х			Х	Х	x	х
/	ear roles and ponsibility	^			^	^	^	^
	nal factors:							
	ward structure/		X				Х	
/	anization		~				^	
	oport							
b) Lev			Х					
,	vironmental							
stre	ess							
c) Edu	ucational system							
	ormation system	Х						
	source scarcity							
	nagement							
	ntrol							
	ganizational			Х	Х			
	nate							
	er-group							
	ations							
	mpetition							
	vironmental							
unc	certainty							

Source: Azmy (2012)

There are much knowledge and many skills that need to be developed and implemented by all team members for the success of project management in construction project. Each team member has not only required to take responsibility and limitations on the assigned task but also acted in the interest of the project by ensuring the assigned task to complete in sequence and in association with other people tasks in accordance with project plan. IV. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

IV. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

4.1 Introduction

It is important to define the research methodology in which the research philosophy together with the research design are to address in detail the process of the research with the aim to have all the answers for this study on the team structure in project management for construction projects.

It is described that research methodology is a combination technique (Easterby-Smith et al., 2001) to make enquires on various methods for reaching a result. The researchers have to find an appropriate method to shed data from critical investigation on the subject and to make an analysis to have a valid conclusion (Tayie, 2005).

On the research philosophy, the comparison of positivist and naturalistconstructionist is conducted to find the suitable paradigm to apply for this research. On the research design, one of the major strategies of surveys, experiment, grounded theory, action and case study is to be selected for the strategic approach for the research with the full clarification on the selection. The method for the application of the approached strategy on the gathering data and analysis of the available data to give the result of the research are also determined to ensure the logic, reliability and validity of the research.

The fulfillment of the requirement of ethical issues for conducting the research on the selected method is also explained together with the clarification to ensure the reliability and validity of this research.

In accordance with the research problem statement described in Chapter One, the literature on theoretical on team structure in project management and related conceptual and framework are presented in Chapter Two, then a comprehensive scope of team and project management in construction and required team structure in each different phase of a project are identified for understanding the function of team members in project management. This chapter presents the research methodology, including research philosophy and research design adopted in order to justify the reason for choosing the selected methodology.

4.2 Research Philosophy

It is important to understand the philosophical thinking on the research methodology in order to clarify research design and to describe the method to collect and interpret the collected data. There are three (3) philosophical thinking that provide the reality method to make research implication which are named the positivistic, post-positivistic and constructivist of research paradigm (Easterby-Smith et al., 2001). Table 4.1 illustrates research paradigms and their major characteristics.

Paradigm	Positivism	Post-positivism/ Relativism	Construction
Ontology (basic assumption)	Realism: Reality is external, objective and is driven by immutable natural laws	Critical realism: A real world driven by natural laws but due to the limitedness of human cognition, imperfect sensory and constrained intellectual mechanism, exploring and perceiving into the true nature of reality is impossible.	Social constructivism: Reality is socially constructed and therefore our understanding of it is subjective, varied across situations and cultures and is conscious ideological.
Epistemology	Objectivism: Enquirer should behave objectively in an effort to explore reality and unravel universal laws that govern causal relationships through non-value laden means.	Modified objectivism: Reasonable objectivity of enquirer by trying to be as neutral as possible and articulating interferences and value laden characterizations.	Subjectivism: Given that reality is a human mind construct, subjective interaction between enquirer and enquired is the best way of constructing it.
Major methodology	Manipulative methodologies that both curb from inquirer bias and meticulous enough to penetrate into the characteristics of the issue under scrutiny.	Critical multiplism of methodologies (triangulation of multiple data, source, investigators, theories, methods, etc.) to achieve the	Approaches that properly gauge the hermeneutics and dialects aspects of an enquiry.

Table 4.1 – Summary of research paradigms and their major characteristics

Paradigm	Positivism	Post-positivism/ Relativism	Construction
		commitments for critical realism and modified objectivism.	
Major aim of enquiry	Discovery of the natural laws of nature.	Exposure into and 'estimating' reality through multiple perspectives.	Invention/construction of 'reality'.
Major designs	Experiment/observation.	Triangulation.	Reflexivity.
Analyses/interpretation	Verification/falsification.	Probability.	Sense-making.
Outcomes	Causality.	Correlation.	Understanding.

Source: Easterby-Smith et al. (2001)

The selection of the research philosophy is conducted on the comparison between the two (2) main research paradigms on a qualitative research which are positivist and naturalist-constructionist (Atkinson and Delamont, 2011).

The Positivism was described as the observer of recurrent theme from the past to the present day to understand the behavior and to explain the proceeding on the scientific descriptions (Cohen et al., 2007). The approach of Positivism had to be on the logic of the cause and the result based on the known theories (Creswell, 2007).

The Naturalist was described as the learner from the experience of others so it was also constructionist on the natural happen in the external world of experience (Atkinson and Delamont, 2011). Naturalist-constructionist was focused on theme which was happened during the activities on studied subject.

The aim of this research is to seek the answer for the behavior of a group of professionals to compose a team to provide the professional services. The positivist focused on the set-up of theories based on the observation of the activities of the project evaluation and the participant performances. In contrast, the naturalist-constructionist paradigm focused on the importance of the context and the clarifying of the complexity of the subject with all the related factors based on the interviews. Therefore, the Positivism is not suitable for the research and the Naturalist-Constructionist paradigm is selected for this research.

There are also different approaches on the application of naturalist-constructionist such as critical emphasizing on the discovery and remediation of problems (Kincheloe & McLaren, 2000), feminist emphasizing on the non-dominance during the interview (Hooks, 1989), and postmodernism emphasizing on not to find out the full truth of the issues (Atkinson, 2002). The feminist method with the gentleness

and un-expectation of the misinterpretations of the interviews is also the applied approach to the research.

It is to conclude that the naturalist-constructionist paradigm with the feminist approach is chosen for the philosophy of this research.

4.3 Research Design

Research Strategy

Research design is a necessary process in collecting, analyzing and interpreting data from research strategy. It is a logical step linking data in research question and the conclusion of the research (Yin, 2003) as it requires critical review of research questions to suit the problem statement.

Research strategy could be developed from one of the five (5) major strategies of surveys, experiment, grounded theory, action and case study. With the limited time and available case studies related to the subject of team structure in project management for construction projects, case study strategy is the choice for this research.

All case study projects are real and reliable for the research of the application of team structure in project management for construction projects. All case study projects were typical construction projects in both infrastructure and building with the full assigned project management team and projects were publicly published in the web site.

The in-depth interview method is chosen for the collection data on the interviews with the participants directly involved in the case study projects.

Multiple Case Study Project Approach

On the research design, multiple case study projects are approached because the case study projects provide the practical activities in accordance with the theories on the construction subject of the research (Yin, 2009).

The multiple case study projects could also provide the following essential issues for the research:

- Providing the practical contribution to the research subject.
- Collecting plenty of data which would be helpful for the analysis of the research.
- Offering the multiple layers on the concept of the research by analyzing the qualitative data.
- Generating the platform to the finding of the problem statement of the research by pre-prepared questions related to the research subject.

Therefore the multiple case study projects are chosen for the research through the in-depth interviews with the selected participants.

The brief details of the four (4) projects to be facilitated for the case studies are briefed in the table below. The full details of the case study projects are presented in Appendix B.

	Table 4.2 – Case Study Frojec	
	01. HO TRAM ENTERTAINMENT AND F	RESORT PROJECT
Brief description of the project	The project covers an area of 169 ha in Xuyen Moc Commune of Ba Ria – Vung Tau Province. Construction of the Project 1 (phase 1 and 2) – including the two five-star hotels, Vietnam's first Las Vegas-style casinos and the specially designed Greg Norman golf completed by 2011. The entire 169 hectares of the Ho Tram Strip, featuring five Las Vegas-style integrated resorts, is scheduled to be completely developed and operational within ten years.	
Type of project	Building	
Type of contract awarded	Multiple contract packages	
Total of construction cost (USD)	450 Million	
Construction Period (month)	55	
02. SP	-PSA (SAIGON PORT – PORT SINGAPORE / PORT PROJECT	
02. SP		
Brief description of	The project is located at Thi Vai area in southern Vietnam (Phu My Town, Tan Thanh District, Ba Ria-Vung Tau Province) The SP-PSA has total berth length of 1,200m, the total area of 56.40ha, handling capacity of 1.2 mil TEU/year and 1.25 mil tons of general cargoes per year is able to receive vessels up to 6,000 TEU (it is equivalent to 80,000 DWT). The new port is expected to serve as an international hub	
Brief description of the project	The project is located at Thi Vai area in southern Vietnam (Phu My Town, Tan Thanh District, Ba Ria-Vung Tau Province) The SP-PSA has total berth length of 1,200m, the total area of 56.40ha, handling capacity of 1.2 mil TEU/year and 1.25 mil tons of general cargoes per year is able to receive vessels up to 6,000 TEU (it is equivalent to 80,000 DWT). The new port is expected to serve as an international hub port in the long term.	
Brief description of the project	The project is located at Thi Vai area in southern Vietnam (Phu My Town, Tan Thanh District, Ba Ria-Vung Tau Province) The SP-PSA has total berth length of 1,200m, the total area of 56.40ha, handling capacity of 1.2 mil TEU/year and 1.25 mil tons of general cargoes per year is able to receive vessels up to 6,000 TEU (it is equivalent to 80,000 DWT). The new port is expected to serve as an international hub port in the long term.	

Table 4.2 – Case Study Project Brief
	03. VINHOMES LANDMARK RESIDENTIAL	COMPLEX PROJECT
Brief description of the project	Vinhomes Landmark Residential Complex Project is constructed on the total area of 43.91 ha. The project comprises 11 towers (every tower with from 36 storeys to 50 storeys). The project is located in Tan Cang area, one of the most prime locations in the heart of Ho Chi Minh City.	
Type of project	Building	
Type of contract awarded	Multiple contract packages	
Total of construction cost (USD)	800 Million	
Construction Period (month)	24	
(04. EXPANSION OF THU DUC WATER PLAN CAPACITY OF 300,000	
Brief description of the project	The objective of the project is to build Thu Duc Water Supply Plant – Phase III with the capacity of 300,000m3/day connecting to clean water pipeline D2400 of Thu Duc Water Supply Plant to meet the demand of water consumption in Ho Chi Minh City. The project includes Raw Water Pumping Station with the capacity of 315,000m3/day; Water Treatment plant with the capacity of 300,000m3/day.	
Type of project	Water Supply	
Type of contract awarded	Multiple contract packages	
Total of construction cost (USD)	120 Million	
Construction Period (month)	25	

Even all the projects were developed in Vietnam but the management of the project was conducted by international developers and international consultants. Therefore, most of the findings of this research and the discussion could also be applied to all projects with the similar conditions in any other part of the globe.

Sampling Technique and Sample Size

The data collection is based on the interviews with participants involved directly in the case study projects, so the sampling technique on the selection of the participants depends on the convenient sampling technique with the non-probability sampling in which the case study projects generate the boundary of the population for the participants to undertake the interviews.

The sample size - the number of interview participants is selected enough to provide the reliable data with total 16 samples for four (4) case study projects. The sample that was part of team to provide the project management for the case study projects could also provide the real status of each project as they could be project director, project manager or senior specialist in the assigned team structure.

If a selected participant refuses to undertake the interview, another team member of the assigned project will be approached for the consent to take part in the study. In order to provide the variableness of the sample, interviewees are also selected with different genders, age groups, education levels and employment types to provide the different views in the perspective of the research subject. Full details of positions and demographic profiles of the participants (nationalities) who undertake the interviews are presented in the next Chapter – Results and Analysis. Other details on proposed gender, age group, education level and type of employment of participants are illustrated in Table 4.3 – Proposed Participant Group Variableness.

No.	Project	Gender		Age		Education Level		Employment	
		М	F	<40	>40	U	HU	FT	С
1.	Ho Tram Entertainment and Resort Project	3	1	1	3	3	1	2	2
2.	SP-PSA International Port Project	2		2	2	2		1	1
3.	Vinhomes Landmark Residential Complex Project	4	2	3	3	4	2	4	2
4.	Expansion of Thu Duc Water Plant Project – Phase III, Capacity of 300,000m ³ /day	2	1	1	2	3		1	2

 Table 4.3 – Proposed Participant Group Variableness

Notes:

- M: Male
- F: Female
- <40: Under 40 years old
- >40: Over 40 years old

- U: Degree qualification
- HU: Higher than Degree qualification
- FT: Full time with the company
- C: Contract Staff

Questionnaire Preparation and Interview Procedure

A set of questions to be interviewed is prepared for the arrangement of the interviews. All prepared questions directly focus on the subject of team structure issues on the project management of each construction project case study.

In order to have a successful interview process, McNamara (2009) advised to follow the procedure of:

- (i) Selecting the good amber place for the interview.
- (ii) Clarifying the objective of the interview.
- (iii) Confirming the confidentiality of the interview.
- (iv) Defining the format of the interview.
- (v) Expecting the time to complete the interview.
- (vi) Advising the mean of communication.
- (vii) Clarifying any misunderstanding issues.
- (viii) Taking notes of everything in the interview.

To ensure the questions are reliable and covering the entire subject of team structure in project management, a pilot test with the leader of one of the projects will be undertaken. If the pilot test shows the weakness of the prepared questions, on the focus of the subject, the questions could be revised to collect better answers from the interviews (Kvale, 2007). After the pilot test is done successfully, the interviews with all consent participants will be proceeded and completed within the appropriate time to suit the study program.

Data analysis

It is important to select the method to analyze the data on qualitative research as it is a key to open all the hardwork on the interviews. The Qualitative Content Analysis is selected for the data analysis on this study due to the flexibility to apply inductive approach in the analysis based on the results of the interview and the inductive analysis based on theories (Kondracki, Wellman and Amundson, 2002). This method of Qualitative Content Analysis was presented as a good analytic strategy for qualitative study (Sandelowski, 2000) and the system to describe the finding of the qualitative research (Schreier, 2012).

The data analysis on the selected Qualitative Content Analysis should follow the required process:

- (i) Selecting the sample analysis in the five selected projects.
- (ii) Establishing categories and themes in the five selected projects.
- (iii) Analyzing and providing the result of the finding.

By combining the literature review and finding in the result of the analysis, the discussion on the team structure in relation to the performance of project management in construction focuses on the three components of cost management, quality management and time management.

The full method and process data analysis after the data are collected from the interviews are presented in detail in the next Chapter – Results and Analysis.

Pattern of the inductive approach on Qualitative Content Analysis

In general, the Qualitative Content Analysis can be developed in the following stages that are presented in the below figure 4.1 – Procedures of Qualitative Content Analysis Approach (Zhang and M.Wildemuth, 1966).



Figure 4.1 – Procedures of Qualitative Content Analysis Approach

Source: Zhang and M. Wildemuth (1966)

4.4 Research Questions

The well-prepared questionnaire is essential for the participant to provide all the details for the subject of the study, so the questionnaires for the interviews are carefully prepared for the most effective way to collect the required data.

The eighteen (18) questions including three (3) questions on the background of the participants and another fifteen (15) questions from the assigned projects related directly to the arrangement of team structure, the assignment of team members in project management for construction projects are prepared for the in-depth interviews with all participants who have consented to take part in the studies.

The completed set of questions for interviews is presented in the Appendix A.

4.5 Data Collection Methods

The interview questions are issued to the interviewees in advance. The transcript for the interview based on the prepared questions is ready for the interview. Audio tape is also requested to record during the interview and notes of interview are taken on the conversation of each question.

The replies of the interview are written for each question then sent back to the interviewees for reviewing and accepting. Summary of the key issues of the interview of each project is conducted to show the similarity of difference from each interviewee on the evaluation of the related project.

4.6 Ethical issues: Reliability and Validity

Ethical requirement

The acceptance for facilitating the case study projects and the approval for staff to take part in the research by the project owners were obtained. The consent to undertake the interview of each participant was also collected before proceeding the research.

The owners of the projects and all participants clearly understood the aim and objectives of the study which was one of the factors to satisfy the ethical issue of the study by the University. The documents related to the interviews are also kept confidentially.

Reliability

The reliability of the research reflects the true indication of the subject which would be given the same result by other researcher. The data for the study is gathered through the interviews with different levels of the team members in different projects to provide the credibility of the study (Hendricks, 2006). The in-depth interviews with all participants from four (4) case study projects ensure that the results of collected data could be consistent upon any repeat interviews to provide the reliability of this research (Golafshani, 2003).

Validity

The case study projects are on different scales and different types of construction to provide the data from various sources for the research and all four (4) case study projects are approached independently to ensure to have the finding on the highest level of credibility on the researched subject.

All the interviews are conducted independently without any force or guidance to affect the results of the interviews (Haller and Kleine, 2001). The internal and external validity of the data collections are also satisfied not to cause any variable outcome of the study by any means to intervene the participants (internal) or population, personological and ecological (external) to the study (Haller and Kleine, 2001).

4.7 Summary and Conclusion

4.7.1 Summary of research methodology

General information on the study – Chapter 1

The aim of this chapter is to recognize problems in construction industry in delivering a construction project related to key characters of construction project of time, cost and quality. This chapter also defines the role of project management which so much depends on the assigned human resources and composition of project management team.

Based on the mentioned problems and role of project management team in providing successful project management for delivering a construction project, this chapter sets out problem statement and objective proceeding with the study in order to find the answer on the composition of team structure of project management to cope with the mentioned problems.

Review literature – Chapter 2

The aim of this chapter is to revisit and examine closely the problem in construction project in order to identify solution to solve the problem on the concept of team structure of project management team in previous research. Review of previous context and research is to provide the determination of position of this study in relation to other similar studies on the subject. It also provides reference on similarity or dissimilarity of the context of project management team on the result of data collection against the previous studies.

The context – project management of construction project – Chapter 3

This chapter provides the context explanation for understanding the project management role in construction project, the concept of project management, and key phasing of a construction project. It also clarifies risk management, understanding of main type of contract in construction project and lastly the role of team composition for project management.

This chapter gives further knowledge on requirement of construction project together with the related concept of contract to deliver a project between the project owner and contractor in which project management team has to take responsibility for establishing after tender and managing during the construction. This knowledge is essential for composition of team member structure and the required qualification of each team member to undertake the assigned duty in the team structure.

Research methodology – Chapter 4

This chapter defines research methodology and research philosophy on the researched subject. Based on selection of research methodology and research philosophy, an appropriate research design on multiple case studies approach for the study of team structure of project management for construction project is proceeded to collect data for analysis to have the result of the study.

Flowchart of Research Procedure

The flowchart of the methodology of the study in relation to formation of Chapter 4 – Research Methodology of the study is summarized and illustrated in Figure 4.2.



Figure 4.2 – Flowchart of Research Methodology

4.7.2 Conclusion

Based on the selection of the four (4) case study projects and the acceptance to take part in the study of the selected project team members of the mentioned projects, the study is carried out using the qualitative research method with the indepth interview technique. The collected data then are analyzed based on the qualitative content analysis method to provide the findings of the study.

The ethical issues of the study are satisfied by obtaining the agreement from the project owners and the consent to participate of the interviewees. The reliability and validity of the study are also considered to ensure the true reflection of the results of the study.

V. RESULTS AND ANALYSIS

V. RESULTS AND ANALYSIS

5.1 Introduction

In accordance with the procedure described in Chapter 4, data was collected from each case study project from the in-depth interviews with the selected participants involved in the selected project. The analysis of the available data provided the findings on the preferred type of team structure and the appropriate arrangement of the team members on the successful management of construction projects in relation to cost, time, quality, HSE and ethical conduct.

Each selected project had different scopes of work on the provided project management tasks and the composition of team structure in each case study project had been structured differently to suit the demanded tasks of each project. Results from the interviews of each case study project present the key issues to show the similarity and contrast in arrangement of the team structure and the effectiveness of the selection of each case study project. The full context of data from the interviews is presented in Appendix B.

Analysis from the available data from the multiple case studies to provide the result of the findings follows the Qualitative Context Analysis Method. The analysis procedure on inductive approach is also presented in detail to describe the process to obtain the result. The findings from the analysis are summarized and referred back to literature review on each issue of the findings (Kondracki Wellman & Amudson, 2002). The objectives of the research of three (3) questions on the model of team structure, effectiveness of composition of team members and whether team structure to be the key factor of successful project management are also provided in this Chapter.

5.2 Details of the Participants in the Interviews

To ensure the reliability and validity of the research, the interviews have been conducted directly with the related personnel of project management teams of the case study projects. Table 5.1 illustrates the details of position, gender, nationality and qualification of the participants to undertake the in-depth interviews in each case study project in the interviews.

No.	Coding	Position	Gender	Nationality	Qualification			
1.	P1	Ho Tram Entertainment and Resort Project						
	P11	Project Director	М	British	Master of Project Management			
	P12	Document Controller	F	Vietnamese	Bachelor's Degree			
	P13	M&E Team Leader	М	Filipino	Engineering Degree			
	P14	Structural Team Leader	М	Australian	Engineering Degree			
2.	P2	SP-PSA International Port	Project					
	P21	Project Director	М	Japanese	Engineering Degree			
	P22	Technical Team Leader	М	Australian	Engineering Degree			
3.	P3	Vinhomes Landmark Residential Complex Project						
	P31	Project Director	М	German	Master of Project Management			
	P32	Resident Manager	М	Australian	Engineering Degree			
	P33	Design Management Team Leader	М	British	Master of Engineering			
	P34	Contract Management	F	Vietnamese	Quantity Survey Degree			
	P35	Document Controller	F	Vietnamese	Bachelor's Degree			
	P36	Technical Manager	М	British	Engineering Degree			
4.	P4	P4 Expansion of Thu Duc Water Plant Project – Phase III, Capacity of 300,000 m ³ /day						
	P41	Project Director	М	Netherland	Engineering Degree			
	P42	Construction Team Leader	М	Filipino	Engineering Degree			
	P43	Document Controller	F	Vietnamese	Bachelor's Degree			

Notes: M: Male F: Female

5.3 Characteristic of Team Structure of Case Studies

5.3.1 Ho Tram Entertainment and Resort Project

The scope of works of this project consists of Design, Tender, Contractual, Construction Phases and Close-out Phase Management. The composition of team structure had divided the main group of team members into three (3) groups of Design, Tender and Construction Groups. The Design Group handled Infrastructural, Mechanical & Electrical (M&E) and Structural design phases, the Tender Group handled tender and contractual phases and Construction Group handled the construction and close-out phases. All three groups had a different team leader for operating their functions and all under a Project Director of the project. Team members of Design Group and Tender Group were released after completion of the design phase and tender phase, but their team leader stayed on to provide coordination of design and contractual matters up to close-out phase of the project.

Each team leader of their group had to create the planning schedule of their phase and to monitor their team members to perform the function under the leadership of the Project Director, and to follow the master plan of the project.

In contractual phase, the Project Director had to cooperate closely with the Client's representative in order to have the final decision on terms and conditions of the contract.

Figure 5.1 illustrates the organization chart of Ho Tram Entertainment and Resort Project.

Figure 5.1 – Organization Chart of Ho Tram Entertainment and Resort Project



5.3.2 SP-PSA International Port Project

Due to the design phase had been handled directly by technical staff of Clients, the scope of works of this project only consists of Tender Phase, Contractual Technical Construction Phase, and Close-out Phase Management. The composition of team structure had divided the main group of team members into two (2) main groups of Tender Group and Technical Construction Group. The Tender Group handled tender and contractual phases and the Technical Construction Group handled construction and close-out phases. Due to the technical complexity of construction port project, the technical construction was divided into three (3) sub-groups of earthwork, structural, and M&E sub-groups. The reason for dividing into three sub-groups was that the construction of earthwork consisting of dredging, reclamation, pilling, etc., which is required much heavy equipment and completed quite early in the construction phase; the construction of port structure and the installation of M&E components were started at the completion of earthworks till the completion of whole project.

A Project Director took responsibility for coordinating with design team of the Client to ensure the design suitable for a scale of the project and to have suitable equipment before delivering a design document to the contractor.

In the Close-out phase, the Project Director and equipment team had to perform a commissioning test together with equipment suppliers to ensure the installed equipment to be performed in accordance with the required specifications.

Figure 5.2 illustrates the organization chart of SP-PSA International Port Project.



Figure 5.2 – Organization chart of SP-PSA International Port Project

5.3.3 Vinhomes Landmark Residential Complex Project

The scope of works of Project Management of this project consists of Construction and Close-out Phases as the tender phase to select a contractor and the design phase had been handled by the Client. This project has a similar eleven (11) buildings with 50-storey height, and due to the construction of eleven buildings were mobilized the same time with the completion almost the same time; therefore, the composition of team structure had a core team to handle the overall contract management, document management and group team manager to assist each resident manager. Beside the core team, each separate building had a resident manager and full team to handle the construction of each building.

Each resident manager had to take full responsibility to create a planning schedule and monitor their team members to perform their function to ensure the completion of each building to be completed in accordance with the master schedule of this project.

The Project Director and his core team had to assist each resident manager in correspondences with the Client's team in clarification of the contract management and design management to ensure all eleven (11) buildings to have similar terms and conditions with all contractors and to have the same design and specifications on the design coordination with design consultants.

The Project Director and his Resident Managers had to coordinate with project management team of the Client to coordinate all discrepancies in the design and to finalize the final account (final construction cost) with each contractor and to receive the hand-over of each building from the contractor.

Figure 5.3 illustrates the organization chart of Vinhomes Landmark Residential Complex Project.



Figure 5.3 – Organization chart of Vinhomes Landmark Residential Complex Project

5.3.4 Expansion of Thu Duc Water Plant Project – Phase III, Capacity of 300,000 m³/day

The scope of works of Project Management of this project consists of Tender, Design Review, Contractual, Construction Phases and Close-out Phase Management. The Client of this project had decided to call tender on EPC (Engineering – Procurement – Construction) Contract to ensure the design and construction with the majority of works involving in the installation of equipment to be handled and taken responsibility by the contractor.

In order to complete the task of selection of EPC contractor in the Tender Phase, technical team including equipment specialists and construction experts had to be coordinated closely with the contractual team to select the right contractor not only on the construction cost, but also on the assessment of suitable equipment to match with the existing plan and the construction method to ensure the non-disturbance of the operation of the existing plan. The establishment of EPC contract was also required the heavy involvement of the technical team to define and clarify clearly the supplying of suitable equipment, installation of equipment and construction.

On EPC contract for this project, the contractor had taken full responsibility for the design and submitted to Project Management team for reviewing and issuing approval for the design before the construction; therefore, the team of design review was occupied actively in the design phase (preconstruction period) and completed their tasks after issuing the design approval. The construction team consisting of equipment team and structural team had taken over from the design review team to ensure all approved designs to comply strictly during the construction period. In the Close-out Phase, the equipment team had an important task of commissioning the plant to ensure the performance of the plant to be satisfied and ready for operation.

The Project Director was the leader throughout implementation of the project to coordinate with project owner, EPC contractor and all requirements of each phase and to link all phases of this project.

Figure 5.4 illustrates the organization chart of Expansion of Thu Duc Water Plant Project – Project III, Capacity of 300,000 m³/day.

Figure 5.4 – Organization chart of Expansion of Thu Duc Water Plant Project – Phase III, Capacity of 300,000 m³/day



5.4 Data Analysis

Based on the collected data from the interviews of four (4) case study projects (Detail of key issues in data collection of four case study projects is attached in Appendix C), the analysis of data is conducted by applying Qualitative Content Analysis technique with the inductive approach. The procedure for data analysis including open coding, set-up categories and abstraction is implemented and presented herein (Neundorf, 2002).

Open Coding

Open coding is established in accordance with key data in which the contents were repeated by all participants on each case study project collected from the four (4) projects (Hsieh and Shannon, 2005), the table 5.2 illustrates the open coding from interview data for the research.

Coding No.	Description	Project A	Project B	Project C	Project D
1.	Type of team structure was Project-based structure with the centralized authority of the Project Director.	✓	~	~	~
2.	The Project Director was the most important position in team structure for the success of the project management.	✓	✓	✓	\checkmark
3.	Professional discipline department was set up to suit the scope of the project.	✓		~	
4.	There was no problem on the nationalities or organization of team members on contribution to the success of the project management.	~	~	~	✓
5.	The previous Project Director from German had problem with the adaptation to the operational culture of the project.			~	
6.	All positions in the composition of project management team were essential for the successful delivery of the project if team members were correctly assigned with appropriate qualifications.	\checkmark	✓	✓	~
7.	The team members should have the appropriate qualification and experience.	✓	~	✓	~
8.	The lack of appropriate team members generated a lot of problems on the management of the contractors.			✓	
9.	The project leader should recognize early the potential issues to correction of team members.			✓	
10.	Project management software was useful to save time for monitoring the project, but most of the applied software required the users to have appropriate qualification to operate.	\checkmark	\checkmark	~	
11.	It was helpful to have software for monitoring and comparing the construction schedule of all eleven (11) buildings at the same time.			~	

Table 5.2 – Open Coding for the Research

Coding No.	Description	Project A	Project B	Project C	Project D
12.	Software for project management in infrastructure project only provided administration work but not technical solution.				~
13.	Human resource is a successful key for project management in construction projects, software cannot replace human resource.	✓	~	~	~
14.	Responsibility for the design review of project management in EPC contract was essential for the progress of the project.				✓
15.	It is important to coordinate with sub-contractors of EPC contractor for supplying, installing and commissioning the equipment of the plant.				~
16.	The management of cost (by QS), time (by scheduler), quality (by QA/QC) and HSE (by HSE manager) was conducted by the assigned staff for each component.	~	~	~	✓
17.	Project performance of cost, time, quality and HSE was depended on each managerial position to undertake the responsibility for the task with the full support in technical and management issues for the Project Director (Leader).	✓	✓	✓	✓
18.	Understanding of construction procedure was essential in the arrangement of construction tender and construction package implementation.	~	~		✓
19.	There was no core team set-up but the Deputy Project Director was set up to act as Resident Manager.		~		
20.	Core team which was set up to assist eleven (11) resident managers was helpful to manage contractors with same treatment and to facilitate team members of project management team.			✓	
21.	Support from the head office of project management team on the coordination with the Supplier or any third party such as Hotel Operator should be set up early and controlled by the project management team.	✓			
22.	Support from the head office of project management team for the design review was essential for the support in technical, management and resource issues.		~	~	~
23.	Mix-up responsibility of the Technical Department and Interior Fit-out Department on the approval of material created the delay of the construction schedule.	~			
24.	Quick respond on technical issues was critical on the construction progress of the project.		✓		✓
25.	Technical issues related to the specifications had to be checked by technical team.				~
26.	The supply procedure of imported equipment/ material needs managing by the scheduler.				~
27.	Assisting contractor in applying construction method on other buildings to ensure the contractor to keep construction schedule was essential for this project.			~	
28.	It is vital to coordinate with contractors to ensure they comply with all necessary procedures to deliver successfully the assigned project.	✓	~	~	✓
29.	The Document Control Manager needed to coordinate with the Technical Manager to update the construction drawings.		~		

Coding No.	Description	Project A	Project B	Project C	Project D
30.	Document control had to be divided into administration document control and technical document control.		\checkmark		
31.	Monitoring project management team to avoid any wrongdoing was also a duty of Project Director and team leader of the project to avoid corruption.	~	~	~	~
32.	Input from hotel/casino operators in the design phase was essential for the successful delivery of the project.	\checkmark			
33.	Ethical conduct was the issue on the approval of materials on site.	\checkmark	~	~	
34.	Ethical conduct was the issue on the approval of materials and acceptance of works.		✓		

Set up Categories

In order to determine similarity or dissimilarity of the coding, group of the coding is set up to provide the understanding of the research subject in detail of each studied component (Neundorf, 2002). The categories of the mentioned open coding are presented below:



Coding 9 – Reassignment of responsibility needed if required. Coding 10 – Role of software in project management Coding 11 – Helpfulness of software in monitoring and comparing the construction schedule. Coding 12 – Software only provided administration work but not technical solution in infrastructure project. > Coding 14 – Technical responsibility for review design. Coding 15 – Coordination with sub-contractors of EPC contractor for supplying, installing and commissioning the equipment. CAT 3 Coding 16 – Assigned team members on required tasks of cost, time, quality and HSE. Team structure on task assignment Coding 17 – Assigned team members on required management tasks. Coding 18 – Professional knowledge needed. Coding 24 – Cohesiveness of team members. Coding 25 – Technical clarification needed. Coding 26 – Assigned team members on required tasks. Coding 27 – Assistance to contractor in applying construction method to keep construction schedule of the project. > Coding 28 – Coordination with contractors to ensure completion of procedures of the assigned project. > Coding 32 – Role of Input from hotel/casino operators for project success CAT 4 Coding 31 - Project Director monitoring team members Team structure on ethical conduct Coding 33 – Ethical conduct problem on materials > Coding 34 – Ethical conduct problem on acceptace of works

Coding 4 – Team member demographic.

Data abstraction

Abstraction is a process in the Qualitative Content Analysis to formulate full meaning of each category from the back-up coding (Neundorf, 2002). In this research, coding was established on the context of key issues from the in-depth interviews with participants from each case study project and then the coding was categorized into headings to describe the findings of the subject of the research.

Abstraction in accordance with the category of the coding from the interviews is as follows:

(i) Cat 1 – Team structure type

- Type of structure for project management for construction projects should be the project-based type structure.
- The project-based type structure should have the support from the head office with executive personnel in order to provide any required technical backup during the execution of the project.
- On the complicated project which is divided into multiple similar contract packages, core team should be established to assist the management in technical and implementation of all contract packages.

(ii) Cat 2 - Team member selection

- Selection of the qualified team leader Project Director is essential for operation of the team for project management.
- Each selected team member should have appropriate experience and qualification to undertake the assigned tasks.
- Unsuitable selected team member should be replaced with the suitable and qualified member.
- There is no problem on the composition of team structure coming from different organizations or nationalities.
- New team member should be added to the team to handle the demanded tasks.

- Assigned tasks should be clear and within ability of the selected team members.
- Software in project management is helpful to make the monitoring of all components of project a lot quicker than traditional method.
- Software in project management requires qualified personnel to operate on their specialist components.
- Selection of human resource for project management should be prioritized over software.

(iii) Cat 3 – Team structure on task assignment management

- Tasks and scope of works on cost, time and quality should be divided into different departments for undertaking.
- Technical Department is very important in project management for construction projects on providing technical backup to the project.
- Tasks should be re-assigned to the appropriate department or to coordinate with other department for completion.
- Support from head office on technical issues is helpful for project management team.
- Coordination with external consultant/operator of the designed facilities is helpful for project management team.
- In some specialist contract such as EPC, knowledge of construction procedure and technical knowledge on the design of structure and equipment are essential for project management team.
- Cohesiveness between team members is important in the delivery of tasks.

(iv) Cat 4 – Team structure on ethical conduct

• The ethical conduct in project management for construction projects is a problem to be taken care of.

- Members of project management team are required to be monitored on their duty to avoid any unethical conduct.
- Professionalism is the way to control the unethical conduct in construction management.

5.5 Key Findings

The key findings of this research on the subject of team structure in project management for construction projects based on the collected data and the analysis are presented with each of the finding to refer back to the literature review for comparison with the related theories of the subject. The findings also gave the reply to all the research questions putting forward as the objectives of this research.

The data collection and the analysis have provided the key findings of the research as follows:

To identify the preferred arrangement of team structure in project management for construction projects

The arrangement of the team structure for project management for construction projects should satisfy the requirements of the concept of the successful completion of different disciplines of the scope of works to ensure the delivery of the project on cost, time, quality and HSE. The project-based structure for project management for construction projects which fulfilled all the mentioned requirements should be the team structure type with the support of the head office and the core team should be set up for the large project with the similarity of tasks for the multiple contract packages.

The finding of this item also gave the affirmative reply of the research question of "What is the typical model of arrangement of team structure in project management of construction projects?" as the project-based structure should be the model for project management for construction projects regardless of the type of the development in infrastructure, building or industrial projects.

The finding of the arrangement of the team structure on the project-based structure for construction projects with the logic and constraint of the technical involvements together with the demand of the prompt responses on the onsite

decision was almost identical to all of other previous studies on the subject by Chitkara (2014), Cooke (2014), Fewings (2012), Winch (2009) and Loosemore and Uher (2003).

> To identify composition requirements of team structure

The composition of the team depended very much on the type of the project contract awarding, however, the responsibility for the cost, time, quality and HSE should be undertaken by each department of the team. Therefore, the most effective team composition in project management for construction projects should be the centralized project director with the managers to undertake the different departments to cover responsibility for cost, time, quality and HSE of the projects.

The project management team structure needed to include the technical department in case the contract is procured on the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) or Design and Build (DB). The technical department's responsibility was to ensure that the design of the project is compliant with the scope of work of the contractor and fits with the allowed budget.

The finding of this item also gave the affirmative reply of the research question of "**How to have the most effective team composition in project management for construction projects?**" as the most effective team composition should include the required departments in the team to undertake the responsibility for each demand scope of technical to assure the management of key concept of project management on cost, time, quality and HSE of the construction projects.

The finding of the composition of the divided department in the team was rarely discussed in the previous studies but in the sample of the structure of the project-based type, the different departments of the team of construction, contract, HSE, AC/QC, project control and technical were given by many previous studies such as Hillson and Simon, 2007; Winch, 2009 and Chitkara, 2014). The literature review indicated clearly that the composition of the team should have the ability to adapt to the working environment and to suit the working culture to maximize the performance of the team supported by the previous studies such as DeRue et al., 2008; Gibson and Vermeulen, 2003; and LePine, 2003.

To determine the selection of qualified team members including the team leader

The project management for construction projects which was so different on the complication of the scope of works of each type of project requires the qualified team members to undertake the managed disciplines. It was essential for the success of the team on the performance of project management by having the experienced and competent team leader – project director – to manage and to assign appropriate team members to solve any technical demand of the project.

The term "qualified team members" was repeated in every interview on the subject of the arrangement of team members. It emphasized the importance of the required technical background of each team member in the team to provide the project management for construction projects. The finding of this item also gave the affirmative reply of the research question of "**How to have the most effective team composition in project management for construction projects**". It also indicated that the technical background of team members is far more essential than the management skills which could be the most important issue on project management of other industry.

The finding of the qualified team member selection or the requirement of technical skills of team members and the team leader is very much supported by the literature review of the previous studies on the subject by PMBok Guide (2013), Burke (2006), Chitkara (2014), Andi et al. (2004), Toor and Ofori (2008), Liker (2004), Slevin and Pinto (2004), and Galbraith and Lawler III (1993).

To identify task assignment to team members for the successful performance of project management team

The recognition of the responsibility for the completion of the task of scope of works in the project management for construction projects to each department manager and team members was the essential factor to decide the success or failure of the project. The main components on the concept of construction project of cost, time and quality should be undertaken with the full responsibility by the assigned team members. The same should be applied with the HSE and ethical conduct management.

In contrast with the functional type structure and matrix type structure sharing the responsibility between team members, the project-based structure type required the full responsibility of each team member on the tasks within the assigned department. The tasks of each team member needed to coordinate with other tasks in different disciplines for completing the performance of the project.

In order to fulfill a duty of each team member in project team, software in information technology (IT) has provided helpful in communication, design, tender and project management tasks; however, it was clearly mentioned that the application of these software required the operator to be qualified in the assigned duties. The finding of this item also gave the affirmative reply of the research question of "How to have the most effective team composition in project management for construction projects?".

The finding of the responsibility to complete the tasks assigned to team members for the success of the project is rarely mentioned in the literature review. Instead, most of the previous studies discussed on the responsibility to complete the scope of works of the project management tasks between team members and the coordination of team members for management of cost, time and quality by Dlakwa and Culpin (1990), Kaming et al. (1997), Koushki et al. (2005) and Hillson and Simon (2007) or the importance of management of HSE and ethical conduct by all team members by Hinze (2008), Hughes and Ferrett (2008).

To recognize the problem in ethical conduct of team member in project management for construction projects

Unethical conduct was still the concern in three (3) of the four (4) case study projects. There was no evidence of the wrong-doing in these projects as the activities of the suspect of the approval of variations on site or approval of the replacement of the materials were described negligence activities.

The implementation practice to avoid the unethical practice in team structure was to have the strong action and warning system in place by the Representative of Head Office, the Project Director and Department Manager on the issues. The elimination of all forms of the unethical conduct in construction industry was strictly implemented with the compliance of the Code of Ethics and Conduct by all team members. The punishment of all unethical activities was not only on the dismissal but also on the punishment of the legal framework by local authorities, on the public releasing of the individual entity to violate the code of conduct in ethical behaviors. Beside the punishment, the integrity and the professionalism of each team member and the strict procedure to be applied on the acting of each team member on the performance of the assigned tasks was monitored thoroughly.

The prevention of unethical conduct by punishment or by promotion of the professionalism was fully supported by the previous studies of PMI (2004), Pearl et al. (2005) and Transparency International (2005).

The above mentioned key findings of "to determine selection of the qualified team members including the team leader", "to identify task assignment to team members for the successful performance of project management team" and "to recognize the problem in ethical conduct of team member in project management in construction project" with fully support in many authors in previous studies gave the affirmative reply to the research question of "is the right composition of team structure of project management team to be the key factor to deliver the successfully construction project?" as the project management, regardless of the type and scale of the project, depends entirely on human resources from the Project Director to the technical staff who undertake the different functions and scope of works to ensure the completion of the project on the requirements of cost, time, quality and HSE. Therefore, it is certain that the team structure is the key factor for the success of project management for construction projects. However, the success of the team structure is depended very much on the competence team leader and the technical background to suit the assigned tasks of each team member, the understandable of the working environment, cooperation between team members and the compliance with the ethical conduct by all team members are another practical requirements to bring the success for the team structure.

VI. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

VI. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1 General

This research has been conducted in accordance with the naturalist – constructionist paradigm with the in-depth interview technique of the multiple case study projects. Data collection from the interviews with 15 key team members of the four (4) case study projects were analyzed on the qualitative content analysis with the inductive approach to provide the findings for the research.

The research has provided the good findings on the subject of the team structure and team members from many perspectives of the case studies with different scope of work and has given the reply to the main objective of the research on the composition of team structure being the successful factor of project management for construction projects.

The research has also provided additional information which was related to the team structure issues but these findings were outside of the boundary of the research and needed to have further study to be described in the recommendations of this research.

6.2 Conclusions

6.2.1 The Key Finding Issues

The data collection and analysis process which focused on the only subject of team structure – the key factor of project management for construction projects has provided the comprehensive findings such as: the projectbased structure which was selected as the typical type structure would be more effective with the requirement of the competent team leader and qualified team members on the assigned discipline; The basic concept of project management for construction projects of cost, time and quality which was considered as the key criteria for management components would be a completed fundamental for the project management by including the criteria of Health Safety Environmental (HSE) and Ethical Conduct management; The management of each component of cost, time, quality, HSE and Ethical Conduct which was evaluated as the key task of the project management team would be more effective by assigning the task of each component to each department manager and team member; The monitoring system and the regulation guidelines on the violation of ethical conduct which were considered as the precaution and warning approaches would be more successful by setting up early to avoid the unethical conduct in the construction projects. All the mentioned key findings were compared with the related literature review on the subject of project management for construction projects, the comparison gave the results to confirm the full support of the previous studies on the findings. Some of the previous studies did not focus directly on the finding subject such as the selection of each team member or the accurate number of team member but it still provided the general guidelines on the studied issues.

The key findings were also given the clear answers for the three (3) questions put forward in the objectives of this research. The objectives for the research are now fulfilled by the conclusion of the selection of the project-based type structure to be the model for all project management for construction projects, the composition of the team to include the departments to provide the management of the key concepts of time, cost, quality and HSE together with the technical issues, and the team structure to be the key factor for the success of project management in construction.

There were other issues which were not in the boundary of this research such as the importance of the team leader – project director – of the project, the coordination system between the team members and the requirement of additional skills on the cooperation between the team members have been discovered in this research as well.

All the findings which were presented in this research gave the affirmative answers of team structure – being the key factor of project management for construction projects and indicated the importance of the human resources not only in the composition of the team but also the competence to perform the required tasks of each individual in the team.

6.2.2 Limitation of the Research

The findings of this research were totally based on the data collection and the analysis from the four (4) case studies of the projects to be developed in Vietnam with the scale of the projects to be classified as big projects in the construction industries. Hence, the findings were limited to the general project management for construction projects by the following reasons:

- All case studies were located in Vietnam with the international blended team structure to handle the project management. Therefore, most of the team members including the team leader lacked the experience of the local regulation and local culture to result in the requirement to replace some of the key members during the implementation period the project.
- All the case study projects were in the large-scaled construction projects (more than USD 150 Million) to be developed in the weak construction industry area (Vietnam) to make the delivery of project management to be more involved with the technical issues than in the developed countries with the strong backup of the strong construction industry.
- All the case study projects did not establish the relation of other consultants involved in the delivery of a construction project such as designer, quantity surveyor, etc. with the project management team for the project. Because the employment of another consultant to provide the technical backup or costing backup may reduce significantly the required departments for the team structure of project management for construction projects.

6.2.3 Proposed Application for Team Structure

In accordance with the findings of the research on the subject of team structure of project management for construction projects, the application of team structure regardless of the project type or scale of the project, the project-based type structure should be implemented for all project management for construction projects. Application of team structure should follow the below procedures:

- (i) Preparation of the project-based structure organization.
- Selection of the suitable team leader project director to have the technical and management ability for the project.
- (iii) Selection of the suitable department manager for each required department in the team structure.
- (iv) Selection of the suitable team members to fulfill the required tasks of each department under the leadership of the department manager.

(v) Providing of the guideline on the coordination and the communication system within the team for the completion of the scope of works of project management services.

6.2.4 Proposed Implication on Team Structure

The tradition of the concept of project management on cost, time and quality is now not good enough for the construction projects because the mentioned concept is trying to cut cost and to step up the construction schedule without caring to the society of other issues such as Health Safety Environment (HSE). The quality of the construction is easily dented by the unethical conduct by educated professional team members.

Therefore, the HSE and Ethical Conduct should be treated as one of the important criteria issues of project management for construction projects. Beside the framework for the legal system on the application of HSE and Ethical Conduct to the project management activities, the heavy penalty on the non-compliance with HSE and Ethical Conduct should also be implemented on the organization and individual related to these violated activities.

6.3 Recommendations

6.3.1 Team Structure Arrangement and Team Member Selection

- The team arrangement and selection for project management for construction projects should be treated differently to the project management for other industry due to the complexity of technical demand of construction industry in high-rise building, or infrastructure facilities of highway, metro, airport, etc. to require having the qualified personnel to suit the project.
- Arrangement of team structure and selection of team members for project management for construction projects should be carefully considered in terms of the experience and qualification of each individual in the team, including the team leader – project director – to ensure the success of the management of the project.
- Performance of the project is not only evaluated on cost, time and quality but also on the HSE management of the project, therefore, the

assignments of the personnel to take care of HSE in project management for construction projects are essential for every project.

- Ethical conduct is a big issue in monitoring corruption in construction project. Corruption could happen in any phases of a project such as to design a mentioned product in the project to receive a commission, to select inappropriate contractor to receive a kickback on value of the project and to accept a non-quality component to receive a big fee, etc. Therefore, selection of team members for project management team is not only based on qualifications and skills, but also based on the history of ethical conduct of each and every team member. It is recommended that strong action on discipline of unethical conduct from organization is required on ethical conduction to every member of the team.
- Coordination with the contractor who takes full responsibility for executing the construction project is very important on facilitating all instructions from the project management team to deliver the project regardless the role of the contractor is just independent organization to provide construction or shareholders of the project. Therefore, project management team not only needs to coordinate closely with a contractor, but also needs to act appropriately within duty of project management tasks.

6.3.2 Further Required Study

- Data collection and analysis have shown the importance of the team leader project director role on team structure of project management for construction projects. The team leader role should be elaborated further in the study on this subject.
- Data collection and analysis have shown the team members who may come from different organizations, different nationalities. Therefore, the cohesiveness between team members was essential for the success of the project management. The cohesiveness and operation of the team by each team member should be studied further to present the formula for operation of the team.
- Data collection and analysis have shown cooperation between the team members and the additional skills of team members to blend in with the

team environment were vital for the success of the delivery of the project. Therefore, requirement of addition skills to suit the team environment should be further studied.

 Data collection and analysis have shown coordination between a project management team and contractor is essential for the success of the project as the contractor's role is very important in executing all construction works. Therefore, the coordination between a project management team and contractor should be further studied in facilitating the strength of project management in construction project.

6.4 Contribution of this research

This study will hopefully contribute the context of appropriate team structure to the field of project management in construction, especially in the concept of team structure selection and team members in project management team. The team selection has been rarely researched previously but practically the team selection and qualified team members are essential for project management team to deliver successful construction projects.

The research is based on case studies of international projects located in Vietnam with consulting teams including project management team to be combined international individual experts to have experience in other projects in other countries; therefore, the findings of this study subject can still apply in other countries.

The strength of this study is to discuss on the concept of project management in construction industry in which there are many problems on project failure such as time delay, overrun of cost estimate, unacceptable quality to shorten the life of project or even project collapse and corruption issues in construction project due to many factors consisting of the essential factor of inadequate of team composition and nonqualified team member.

The collected data to provide the result of findings come from the participants who were directly involved in the case study projects. Therefore, the findings of this study are practical experience in conducting project management with careful selection of the composition structure and team members of project management in construction industry.

This research could be the springboard for conducting further study to examine the critical success of project management based on the composition of team structure and the selection of appropriate qualification of team structure and selection of appropriate qualification of team members in construction project. This study has also provided the important factor of delivering successful projects in capacity of human resources in qualifications and skills in comparison with information technology (IT) in providing project management in construction industry.
BIBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Abdelhamid T., Everett, J. (2000), *Identifying root causes of construction accidents,* Journal of Construction Engineering and Management, Vol. 126, No. 1, pp.52-60.
- 2. Abdelhamid T., Everett, J. (2000), *Identifying root causes of construction accidents,* Journal of Construction Engineering and Management, Vol. 126, No. 1, pp.52-60.
- 3. Adams, S., Simon, L., and Ruiz, B. (2002), *A pilot study of the performance of student teams in engineering education,* Journal of the American Society for Engineering Education.
- 4. Ahadzi, M., Bowles, G. (2001), *The Private Finance Initiative: The Procurement Process in Perspective,* Proceedings of the 17th Annual Conference of ARCOM, Salford, pp. 971-980.
- 5. Alshawi, M., and Faraj, I. (2002) *Integrated construction environments: technology and implementation,* Construction Innovation, Vol. 2, No. 1, pp. 31-51.
- 6. Andersen, E. S.; Grude, K. V.; Haug, T. (2009), *Goal Directed Project Management: Effective Techniques and Strategies,* 4th Edition, London, Konan Page.
- Andi, A., Santoso, W. K., Tali, R. C. (2004), Basic, Actual and Effectiveness of Leadership Styles of Construction Project Managers in Surabaya, Civil Engineering Dimension: Journal of Civil Engineering Science and Application, Vol. 6, No. 1, pp.32-39.
- Andi, A., Santoso, W. K., Tali, R. C. (2004), *Basic, Actual and Effectiveness of Leadership Styles of Construction Project Managers in Surabaya*, Civil Engineering Dimension: Journal of Civil Engineering Science and Application, Vol. 6, No. 1, pp.32-39.
- 9. Antoniadis, D. N. (2012), *Complexity and the Process of selecting Project Team Members,* Journal of the Advancement of Performance Information and Value, Vol. 4, No. 1.
- 10. Anumba, C., Baugh, C., and Khalfan, M. (2002), *Organisational structures to support concurrent engineering in construction,* Industrial Management Data System, Vol. 102, No. 5, pp. 260-270.
- 11. Atkinson, E. (2002), *The Responsible Anarchist: Postmodernism and social change*, British Journal of Sociology of Education, Vol.23, No. 1, pp.73-87.
- 12. Atkinson, P. and Delamont, S. (2011), *Qualitative Research Methods,* London: Sage Publication Ltd.

- 13. Atkinson, R. (1999), *Project Management: cost, time and quality, two best guesses and a phenomenon, its time to caccept other success criteria,* International Journal of Project Management 17, No. 6, pp. 337-342.
- 14. Austin, S., Baldwin, A. and Newton, A. (1994), *Manipulating the Flow of Design Information to Improve the Programming of Building Design,* London, Spon, Construction Management and Economics, Vol. 15, No. 5, pp. 445-455.
- 15. Austin, S.A., Baldwin, A.N., Li, B., Waskett, P. (1998), *Analytical design planning technique (ADePT): programming the building design process,* Department of Civil and Building Engineering, Loughborough University, Leicestershire.
- 16. Azmy, N. (2012), *the Role of Team Effectiveness in Construction Project Teams and Project Performance,* Graduate Theses and Dissertations, Graduate College.
- 17. Bai, J. F., and Yang, X. Y. (2011), *Research on construction project process performance measurement,* Industrial Engineering and Engineering, pp. 1915-1918.
- 18. Baker, E., and Champion, R. (2008), *Tendering and Procurement in Construction*, Coventry: Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.
- 19. Baloi, D. and Price, A. (2003), *Modelling global risk factors affecting construction cost performance,* International Journal of Project Management, Vol. 21, No. 4, pp. 261-269.
- 20. Bechor, T. et al. (2010), *A contingency model for estimating success of strategic information systems planning,* Information and Management, Vol. 47, No. 1, pp.17-29.
- 21. Belbin, R.M. (2007), *Management Teams: Why they succeed or fail,* Belbin Associates Ltd. Cambridge, [Online] Available from <u>http://www.belbin.com/index.htm</u>.
- 22. Bell, S. T. (2004), Setting the Stage for Effective Teams: A Meta-Analysis of Team Design Variables and Team Effectiveness thesis, presented to Texas A&M University, TX, in a partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.
- 23. Bhoseker, S.K., and Vyas, G. (2012), *Cost controlling using earned value analysis in construction industries,* International Journal of Engineering and Innovative Technology, Vol. 1, No. 4, pp. 324-332.
- 24. Blendell, C., Henderson, S., Molloy, J., and Pascual, R. (2001), *Team performance shaping factors in IPME (Integrated Performance Modeling Environment),* Fort Halstead, U.K.
- 25. Brown, C. J. (2008), A comprehensive organizational model for the effective management of project management, South African Journal of Business Management, Vol. 39, No. 5, pp.1-10.

- 26. Bu-Qammaz, A.S., Dikmen, I., and Birgonul, M.T. (2009), *Risk assessment of international construction projects using the analytic network process*, Canadian Journal of Civil Engineering, Vol. 36, No. 7, pp.1170-1181.
- 27. Burke, R. (2006), *Project Management planning and control techniques*, 5th Edition, Burke Publishing, Everbest
- Campos, L.M.S., Trierweiller, A. C., Carvalho, D. N., Bornia, A. C., Santos, T. H. S., Spenassato, D., Selih, J. (2013), *Características dos Sistemas de Gestão Ambiental no Setor da Construcão*, Proc. Of the 4th Int., Workshop on Advances in Cleaner Production, São Paulo, Brazil, Integrating Cleaner Production into Sustainability Strategies, pp.1-10, [Online] Available from <u>http://www.advancesincleanerproduction.net/fourth/files/sessoes/5A/2/campos_Lms</u> <u>et al work.pdf</u>.
- 29. Cantu, C.J. (2007), *Evaluating team effectiveness: Examination of the TEAM Assessment Tool thesis,* presented to University of North Texas, TX, in a partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.
- 30. Carson, J. B., Tesluk, P. E., & Marrone, J. A. (2007), *Shared leadership in teams: An investigation of antecedent conditions and performance*, Academy of Management Journal, Vol. 50, No. 5, pp.1217-1234.
- 31. Cattani, G., Ferriani, S., Frederiksen, L., Taube, F. (2011), *Project-Based Organizing and strategic Management: A Long-Term Research Agenda on Temporary Organizational Forms (Editorial),* Advances in Strategic Management 28, XV-XXXIX.
- 32. Cheng, M. I., Dainty, A. R. J. and Moore, D. R. (2005), *What makes a good project manager?*, Human Resource Management Journal, Vol. 15, No. 1, pp.25-49.
- 33. Child, J., and McGrath, R. G. (2001), *Organizations unfettered: Organizational Form in an Information - Intensive Economy,* Academy of Management Journal, Vol. 44, No. 6, pp. 1135-1148.
- 34. Chitkara, K.K. (2014), *Construction Project Management Planning Scheduling and Controlling,* Third Edition, McGraw Hill Education.
- 35. Christini, G., Fetsko, M., and Hendrickson, C. (2004), *Environmental Management Systems and ISO 14001 Certification for Construction Firms,* ASCE Journal of Construction Engineering and Management, Vol. 130, pp.330-336.
- 36. CIC (1998), The Constructor's key guides to PFI, Thomas Telford, London.
- 37. Cobb, A. T. (2012), *Leading Project: The Basics of Project Management and Team Leadership,* Thousand Oaks, California 91320, USA: SAGE publications, Inc.
- 38. Cockshaw, Sir A. (2001), *Changing Construction Culture,* Interdisciplinary design in practice, (eds. R. Spence, S. Macmillan, and P. Kirby), Thomas Telford, London, pp. 15-21.

- 39. Cohen, L., Manion, L. and Morrison, K. (2007), *Research Methods in Education,* 6th Edition, Abingdon: Routledge.
- 40. Cohen, S. G., and Bailey, D. E. (1997), *What Makes Teams Work: Group Effectiveness Research from the Shop Floor to the Executive Suite,* Journal of Management, Vol. 23, No. 3, pp. 239-290.
- 41. Cooke, B. (2014), *Management of Construction Projects,* Wiley Blackwell Publishing House.
- 42. Cornick, T. (1991), *Quality management for building design,* UK: Butterworth-Heinemann.
- 43. Cornick, T., and Mather, J. (1999), *Construction Project Teams: Making Them Work Profitable,* Thomas Telford, London.
- 44. Costa, A.A., Arantes, A., and Tavares, L.V. (2013), *J. of Purch & Supp. Manag*, Vol. 19, pp. 238-246.
- 45. Crawford, L. (2005), Senior Management perceptions of project management competence, International Journal of Project Management, Vol. 23, No. 1, pp. 7-16.
- 46. Creswell, J. W. (2007), *Qualitative inquiry & research design: choosing among five approaches,* 2nd Edition, Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Gall.
- 47. Cross, N., Clayburn, A. (1995), *Observations of teamwork and social processes in design*, Design Studies, Vol. 16, pp. 143-160.
- 48. Del Pico, W.J. (2013a), *ed. Project Control: Integrating Cost and Schedule in Construction*, Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- 49. DeRue, D. S., Hollenbeck, J. R., Johnson, M.D., Ilgen, D. R., and Jundt, D.K. (2008), How different team downsizing approaches influence team-level adaptation and performance, Academy of Management Journal, Vol. 51, pp.182-196.
- 50. Dlakwa, M. M. and Culpin, M. F. (1990), *Reasons for overrun in public sector construction projects in Nigeria,* International Journal of Project Management, Vol. 8, No. 4, pp. 237-240.
- 51. Easterby-Smith, M., Throne, R. and Lowe, A. (2001), *Management Research*, 2nd Ed., Sage, London, UK.
- 52. Edum-Fotwe, F.T., and McCaffer, R. (2000), *Developing project management competency: perspectives from the construction industry,* International Journal of Project Management 18(2000), pp.111-124.
- 53. Egan, J. (2002), *Accelerating change,* London.
- 54. Emmit, S. and Gorse, C. (2007), *Communication in Construction Team*, Taylor & Francis, Oxon, p. 298.

- 55. Erbas, C. and Erbas, B. (2013), On theory of Software Engineering: A Proposal Based on Transaction Cost Economic, Proceeding 2nd SEMAT Workshop on General Theory of Software Engineering, San Francisco, California, May 2015, SEMAT, pp.15-18.
- 56. Exman, I. (2013), *Speeding-up Software Engineering's Escape from its Preparadigmatic Stage,* Proceedings 2nd SEMAT Workshop on a General Theory of Software Engineering, San Francisco, California, May 2013, SEMAT, pp.1-4.
- 57. Fewings, P. (2012), *Construction Project Management: an Integrated Approach,* 2nd Edition, Abingdon: Routledge.
- 58. Formoso, C.T., Tzortzopoulos, P., Liedtke, R. (2002), *A model for managing the product development process in house building,* Engineering Construction and Architectural Management, Vol. 9, No. 5-6, pp. 419-432.
- 59. Formoso, C.T., Tzotzopoulos, P., Jobim, M.S.S., Liedtke, R. (1998), *Developing a protocol for managing the design process in the building industry,* proceedings of the 6th International Group for Lean Construction Conference, Guaruja, Brazil.
- 60. Galbraith, J. R. and Lawler III, E. E. (1993), *Effective organizations: using the new logic of organizing: organizing for the future,* In: Galbraith JR, Lawler III EE and Associates, editors, Organizing for the future, the new logic of managing complex organizations, SF: Jossey Bass.
- 61. Gibson, C., and Vermeulen, F. (2003), *A healthy divide: Subgroups as a stimulus for team learning behavior,* Administrative Science Quarterly, Vol. 48, pp.202-239.
- 62. Girmscheid, G., and Busch, T.A. (2008), *Projektrisikomanagement in der Bauwirtschaft*, 1st Ed., Berlin: Bauwerk.
- 63. Gluch, P., and Raisanen, C. (2012), *What tensions obstruct an alignment between project and environmental management practices?*, Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management, Vol.19, pp.127-140.
- 64. Golafshani, N. (2003), *Understanding Reliability and Validity in Qualitative Research,* the Qualitative Report, pp. 597-607, [Online] Available from: <u>https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol8/iss4/6/</u>.
- 65. Gutjahr, L., and Nesgen, C. (2009), *Internationale Projekte leiten,* Freiburg, Br., Berlin, Munchen [i.e.] Planegg: Haufe-Mediengruppe.
- 66. Haller, E. J. and Kleine, P. F. (2001), Using Educational Research: A School Administrator's Guide, London: Longman.
- 67. Hanak, T., and Muchova, P. (2015), *Procedia Computer Science*, Vol. 64, pp. 729-735.
- 68. Harrison, F. and Lock, D. (2004), *Advanced Project Management*, A Structured Approach. 4th Edition, Gower Publishing Limited, Aldershot, 80.

- 69. Hartman, F. (2000), *Don't park your brain outside a practical guide to improving shareholder value with SMART management*, USA: Project Management Institute.
- 70. Hartmann, A., & Bresnen, M. (2011), *The emergence of partnering in construction practice: an activity theory perspective,* Engineering Project Organization Journal, Vol. 1, No. 1, pp. 41-52.
- 71. Haugen, D. F., Nauck, F., & Caraceni, A. (2010), *Oxford Textbook of Palliative medicine: The core team and the extended team,* New York: Oxford University Press.
- 72. Henderson, S., and Walkinshaw, O. (2002), *Command team assessment: Principles, guidance and observations,* QinetiQ, Fort Halstead.
- 73. Hendricks, C. (2006), *Improving Schools through Action Research: A comprehensive Guide for Educators,* New York: Pearson Education, Inc.
- 74. Hiller, N. J., Day, D. V., & Vance, R. J. (2006), Collective enactment of leadership roles and team effectiveness: A field study, The Leadership Quarterly, Vol. 17, No. 4, pp. 387-397.
- 75. Hillson, D. and Simon, P. (2007), *Practical Project Risk Management the ATOM Methodology*, Vienna, VA: Management Concepts).
- 76. Hinze J.W. (2008), *Construction Safety*, Prentice-Hall New Jersey.
- 77. Hooks, B. (1989), *Talking Back: Thinking Feminist, Thinking Black,* South End Press.
- 78. Hsieh, H. F. and Shannon, S.E. (2005), *Three approaches to qualitative content analysis,* Qualitative Health Research, Vol. 15, No. 9, pp.1277-1288.
- 79. Hughes P., and Ferrett, E. (2008), *Introduction to Health and Safety in Construction,* 3rd Edition, Burlington: Butterworth Heinemann.
- 80. Hui, D.L.H. (2009), *Politics of Sichuan earthquake, 2008,* J. Continngencies Crisis Manage, Vol. 17, No. 2, pp. 137-140.
- 81. Hwang, B., and Ng, W. (2013), *Project management knowledge and skills for green construction: Overcoming challenges,* International Journal of Project Management 31 (2013), pp.272-284.
- Iyer, K. and Jha, K. (2005), Factors affecting cost performance evidence from Indian construction projects, International Journal of Project Management, Vol. 23, No. 4, pp. 283-295.
- 83. Izetbegovic, J., Oreskovic, M., Bandic, M. (2003), *Information Technology as a Tool in Construction Project Management.*
- 84. Jefferies, M., Chen, S., and Mead, J. (1999), *Profitable partnering in construction procurement,* S. Ogunlana, E & FN Spon, London, pp. 47-59.
- 85. Jennifer Russell, *Project Management Triangle*, © CC BY (Atribution).

124.

86.	Jorgensen, M. (2018), Construction Contract Management Guidelines and Administration, [Online] Available from http://apppm.man.dtu.dk/index.php/Construction Contract Management Guidelines_and_Administration .
87.	Kagioglou, M., Cooper, R., Aouad, G., Hinks, J., Sexton, M., Sheath, D. (1998), <i>Final Report: Generic Design and Construction Process Protocol,</i> University of Salford, UK.
88.	Kalusche, W. (2012), <i>Projektmanagement fur Bauherren und Planer,</i> 3 rd Ed. Munchen: Oldenbourg.
89.	Kaming, P., Olomolaiye, P., Holt, G., Harris, F. (1997), <i>Factors influencing construction time and cost overruns on high-rise projects in Indonesia,</i> Construction Management and Economics, Vol. 15, No. 1, pp. 83-94.
90.	Kelly, J., Male, S., and Graham D. (2014), Value Management of Construction <i>Projects</i> , 2 nd Ed., Wiley-Blackwell, UK.
91.	Kerridge, S.R., Halaris, C., and Kerridge S. (2000), <i>Virtual Tendering and Bidding in the Construction Sector,</i> EC-Web 2000 London, UK.
92.	Kerzner, H. (2001), Strategic planning for project management using a project management maturity model, New York: John Wiley & Sons.
93.	Kincheloe, J.L. & McLaren, P. (2000), <i>Rethinking critical theory and qualitative research</i> , In N.K. Denzin & Y.S. Lincoln (Eds.), Handbook of Qualitative Research, pp. 279-313, Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
94.	King, T. D. (2015), Assessment of Problems Associated with Poor Project Management Performance, Long International Inc.
95.	Kondracki, N. L., Wellman, N.S., & Amundson, D.R. (2002), <i>Content analysis: Review of methods and their applications in nutrition education,</i> Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior, Vol. 34, No. 4, pp.224-230.
96.	Koskela, L., Ballard, G. & Tanhuanpaa, V.P. (1997), <i>Towards lean design management,</i> Proc. 5 th Annual Conf. Intl. Group for Lean Construction, Gold Coast, Australia, 16-17 July, pp. 1-12.
97.	Koskinen, K., and Pihlanto, P. (2008), <i>Knowledge Management in Project-based Companies</i> , Palgrave Macmillan UK.
98.	Koushki, P., Al-Rashid, K., Kartam, N. (2005), <i>Delays and cost increases in the construction of private residential projects in Kuwait,</i> Construction Management and Economics, Vol. 23, No. 3, pp. 285-294.
99.	Kozlowski, S. W. J. and Ilgen, D. R. (2006), <i>Enhancing the effectiveness of work groups and teams</i> , Psychological Science in the Public Interest, Vol. 7, No. 3, pp. 77-

- 100. KPMG International (2009), *Global Construction Survey 2008: Embracing change?*, pp.17.
- 101. KPMG International (2010b), *Global Construction Survey 2009: Navigating the storm: Charting a path to recovery?*.
- 102. Kvale, S. (2007), *Doing interviews,* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- 103. Lalit, N.K. (2008), *Computer aided design and manufacturing*, New Delhi: Prentice Hall of India.
- 104. Lam, P. T. I., Chan, E. H. W., Chau C. K., Poon, C. S., Chun, K. P. (2011), Environmental management system vs green specifications: How do they complement each other in the construction industry?, Journal of Environmental Management, Vo. 92, pp. 788-795.
- 105. Larson, E. (2004), *Project management structures,* In P. W. G. Morris, & J. K. Pinto (Eds.), The Wiley Guide to Managing Projects, pp. 48-66 Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons.
- 106. Laryea, S., and Hughes, W. (2011), *Risk and price in the bidding process of contractors,* Journal of Construction, Journal of Construction Management and Engineering, ISSN 1943-7862, ASCE.
- 107. Lawson, B., Bassanino, M., Phiri, M., Worthington, J. (2003), *Intentions, practices and aspirations: understanding learning in design,* Design Studies, Vol. 24, pp. 327-339.
- 108. Le, Y., Sahn, M., Chan, A.P., and Hu, Y. (2014), *Overview of corruption research in construction*, J. Manage. Eng., 10.1061/(ASCE)ME.1943-5479.0000300, 02514001.
- 109. Lee S., Thomas, S., Tucker, R. (2005), *The relative impacts of selected practices on project cost and schedule,* Construction Management and Economics, Vol. 23, No. 5, pp. 545-553.
- 110. LePine, J. A. (2003), *Team Adaptation and Postchange Performance: Effects of team composition in terms of members' cognitive ability and personality,* Journal of Applied Psychology, Vol. 88, No. 1, pp.27-39.
- 111. Leung, M.Y., Thomas, N.S., and Cheung, S.O. (2004), *Measuring construction project participant satisfaction,* Construction Management and Economics, Vol. 22, No. 3, pp. 319-331.
- 112. Lewis, J. (2003), *Housing construction in earthquake-prone places: Perspectives, priorities and projections for development, Aust. j. Emergency Manage., Vol. 18, No. 2, pp. 35-44.*
- 113. Li, X., Zhu, Y., Zhang, Z. (2010), *An LCA-based environmental impact assessment model for construction processes,* Building and Environment, Vol. 45, pp. 766-775.

- 114. Liker, J. K. (2004), *The Toyota way: 14 management principles from the world's greatest manufacturer,* New York: McGraw-Hill.
- 115. Liu, H. and Sun, W. (2014), Architecture study on the whole lifecycle management of construction contract in the large construction projects, Applied Mechanics and Materials, Vol. 662, pp. 129-134.
- 116. Liu, Y. (2015), *Preliminary Discussion on the Management of Construction Contracts,* Asia-Pacific Energy Equipment Engineering Research Conference, Atlantis Press.
- 117. Lock, D. (1996), *The essentials of Project Management,* Published by Gower Publishing Ltd.
- 118. Loosemore, M. and Uher, T. E. (2003), *Essentials of Construction Project Management*, University of New South Wales Press, Sydney, Australia, p.408.
- Love, P.E.D., Mandal, P., Smith, J., Li, H. (2000), *Modelling the dynamics of design error induced rework in construction*, Construction Management and Economics, Vol. 18, pt. 5, pp. 567-574.
- 120. Luthans, F., Norman S. M., Avolio B.J., and Avey J. B. (2008), *The mediating role Psychological capital in the supportive organizational climate - Employee performance relationship,* Journal of Organizational Behavior, Vol. 28, pp.219-238.
- Ly, E., Anumba, C.J., and Carrillo, P.M. (2005), *Knowledge management practices of construction project managers,* In: Khosrowshahi, F (Ed.), 21st Annual ARCOM Conference, 7-9 September 2005, SOAS, University of London, Association of Researchers in Construction Manangement, Vol. 1, pp.517-26.
- 122. Mateus, R. (2010), *Full disclosure of tender evaluation models: Background and application inPortuguese public procurement,* Article in Journal of Purchasing and Supply Mangement, [Online] Available from: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/230649958_Full_disclosure_of_tender_evaluation_models_Background_and_application_in_Portuguese_public_procurement</u>
- 123. McNamara, C. (2009), *General Guidelines for Conducting Research Interviews*, [Online] Available from <u>http://managementhelp.org/businessresearch/interviews.htm</u>.
- 124. McShane Von Glinow, V. G. (2002), *Organization Behaviors,* 2nd Edition, The McGraw-Hill Companies.
- 125. Mello, A. and Rucks, M. (2006), *Team Composition,* Journal of Business, Vol.79, No. 3, pp.1019-1039.
- 126. Mintzberg, H. (2007), *Organize Structure*, 2nd Edition, Amsterdam, Pearson Education.
- 127. Mohrman, S.A., Cohen, S.G., and Mohrman, A.M. (1995), *Designing team-based* organizations: new forms for knowledge work, Jossey-Bass, San Francisco, p. 389.

- Mokhtar, A., Bedard, C., Fazio, P., (2000), *Collaborative planning and scheduling of interrelated design changes*, Journal of Architectural Engineering, Vol. 6, No. 2, pp. 66-75.
- 129. Moore, D. (2002), *Project Management: Designing Effective Organizational Structures in Construction*, Malden MA: Blackwell Science.
- 130. Mozota, B.B. (2003), *Design management: using design to build brand value and corporate innovation,* New York: Allworth.
- 131. Muller, R. and Turner, R. J. (2007), *Matching the project manager's leadership style to project type,* International Journal of Project Management, Vol. 21, No. 1, pp. 21-32.
- 132. National Safety Council (2013), *Journey to Safety Excellence Preparing the Business Case for Investment in Safety*, A Guide for Safety Practitioners, [Online] Available from http://www.nsc.org/MembershipDocuments/JSE-BusCase.pdf.
- 133. Neundorf, K.A. (2002), *The content Analysis Guidebook,* Sage Publications Inc, Thousand Oaks, CA.
- 134. Odeh, A. M., and Battaineh, H.T. (2002), *Causes of construction delay: Traditional contracts,* International Journal of Project Management, Vol. 20, pp. 67-73.
- 135. Ogunlana, S., Siddiqui, Z., Yisa, S. and Olomolaiye, P. (2002), *Factors and procedures used in matching project managers to Construction projects in Bangkok,* International Journal of Project Management, Vol. 20, No. 5, pp.385-400.
- Omidvar, G., Samad, Z., and Alias, A. (2012), Project Management Competency Elements Valued by Project Managers in Construction Industry, IRACST-International Journal of Research in Management & Technology (IJRMI), ISSN: 2249-9563, Vol. 2, No. 6 November 2012, Available from: http://iracst.org/ijrmt/papers/vol2no62012/10vol2no6.pdf.
- 137. Palvia, P., Sibley, E.H. (2007), a profile of information systems research published in Information and Management, Information and Management, Vol. 44, p.1-11.
- 138. Parker, G. M. (2008), *Team players and Teamwork New Strategies for Developing Successful Collaboration,* John Wiley & Sons, San Francisco, p. 221.
- 139. Parker, G.M. (2008), *Team players and Teamwork New Strategies for Developing successful Collaboration,* John Wiley & sons, San Francisco, p. 221.
- 140. Pearce, C.L., and Conger, J. A. (2003), *Shared leadership: Reframing the Hows and Whys of leadership,* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- 141. Pearl, R.; Bowen, P.; and Makanjee, N. (2005), Professional ethics in the South African construction industry – a pilot study, The Queensland University of Technology Research Week International Conference, 4-8 July, Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, Australia.

- Pinto, M. B., and Pinto, J. K. (1991), *Determinants of cross-functional cooperation in the project implementation process*, Project Management Journal, Vol. 22, No. 2, pp. 13-20.
- 143. PMBok Guide (2013), a Guide to Project Management Body of Knowledge, 5th Edition, Project Management Institute.
- 144. PMI (2008), A Guide to the Project Management Book of Knowledge (PMBOK), 4th Edition, Project Management Institute, Newtown Square.
- 145. PMI. (2004), *A guide to the project management body of knowledge*, PA, US: Project Management Institute.
- 146. Powpaka, S. (2002), *Factors Affecting Managers' Decision to Bribe: An Empirical Investigation,* Journal of Business Ethics, pp.227-246.
- 147. President Peraturan Nomor 70 (2012), tentang Perubahan Kedua atas Peraturan Presiden Nomor 54 Tahun 2010 tentang Pengadaan Barang/Jasa Pemerintah.
- 148. Press, M., Cooper, R. (2002), *The design experience: the role of design and designers in the twenty-first century*, UK: Ashgate.
- 149. Project Management Institution (PMI) (2014), A Guide to the Project Management Body of Knowledge (PMBOK®Guide) – Fifth Ed. German Translation, Exton: Project Management Institue.
- 150. Project Management Institution (PMI) (2014), *A Guide to the Project Management Body of Knowledge (PMBOK®Guide)*, 5th Ed. German Translation, Exton: Project Management Institue.
- 151. Rahman, H. A., Karim, S. B. A., Danuri, M.S.M., Berawi, M.A., Yap, X.W. (2007), Does professional ethic affects construction quality? Quantity Surveying Interantional Conference, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.
- 152. Rasker, P., van Vliet, T., van Den Broek, H., and Essens, P. (2001), *Team effectiveness factors: A literature review,* TNO Technical Report No. TM-01-B007, Soesterberg, The Netherlands.
- 153. Ravasi, D., and Schultz, M. (2006), *Responding to organizational identity threats: exploring the role of organizational culture,* Academy of Management Journal, Vol. 49, pp.433-458.
- 154. Robinson, O.C., Lopez, F.G., Ramos, K., and Nartova-Bochaver, S. (2013), *Authenticity, Social Context, and Well-Being in the United States, England, and Russia: a Three Country Comparative Analysis,* Journal of Cross-Cutural Psychology 44, No. 5, pp. 719-737.
- 155. Robles, G. (2009), *Evolution of the core team of developers in libre software projects,* Conference Publication: Mining Software Responsitories, 2009. MSR '09.6th IEE International Working Conference on Vancouver, BC., pp. 167-170, Print ISBN: 978-1-4244-3493-0.

156.	Ross, T.M., Jones, E.C., and Adams, S.G. (2008), <i>Can team effectiveness be predicted?</i> , Team Performance Management, Vol. 14, No. 5/6, pp. 248-268.
157.	Rubin H. J., Rubin I.S. (1995), Qualitative Interviewing: The art of Hearing Data, London, Sage Publications.
158.	Salter, A., and Torbett, R. (2003), Innovation and performance in engineering design, Journal of Construction Management and Economics, Vol. 21, pp. 573-580.
159.	Sandelowski, M. (2000), Focus on research methods: Whatever happened to qualitative description?, Research in Nursing and Health, Vol. 23, No. 4, pp.334-340.
160.	Schreier, M. (2012), Q <i>ualitative content analysis in practice,</i> Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
161.	Sebastian, R. (2005), <i>The interface between design and management,</i> Design issues, Vol. 21, No. 1, pp. 81-93.
162.	Seningen, S. (2011), <i>Learn the value of lessons-learned,</i> [Online] Available from http://www.projectperfect.com.au/downloads/Info/info_lessons_learned.pdf.
163.	Shanahan, P. (2001), <i>Mapping team performance shaping factors,</i> QinetiQ, Fort Halstead.
164.	Shen, LY., Lu W., -S., Yao, H., Wu, DH. (2005), <i>A computer-based scoring method for measuring the environmental performance of construction activities,</i> Automation in Construction, Vol. 14, pp. 297-309.
165.	Slevin, D. P. and Pinto, J. K. (2004), <i>An overview of behavioral issues in project management,</i> In: Morris PWG and Pinto JK, editors, the Willey guide to managing projects, New Jersey: John Willey and Sons.
166.	Snowden, D. (2002), Complex acts of knowing: paradox and descriptive self- awareness, Journal of Knowledge Management, Vol. 6, No. 2, pp. 100-111.
167.	Sobkowiak, R. T. (2003), TAOS: Thinking about Organizational Structure, www. Hreddects.com.
168.	Sohail, M., and Cavill, S. (2008), <i>Accountability to prevent corruption in construction projects,</i> WEDC Institute, Loughborough University, UK.
169.	Sonuga, F., Aliboh, O., Oloke, D. (2002), <i>Particular barriers and issues associated with projects in a developing and emerging economy, Case study of some abandoned water and irrigation projects in Nigeria,</i> International Journal of Project Management, Vol. 20, No. 8, pp. 611-616.

- 170. Spatz, D. (2000), *Team-building in construction*, Practice Periodical on Structural Design and Construction, Vol. 5, No. 3, pp. 93-105.
- 171. Spatz, D.M. (1998), *Multidisciplinary teams aid minerals exploration: Mining engineering,* Society of Mining, Metallurgy and Exploration, Littleton, Colo., pp.57-60.

172.	Sreenivasa, H.J., and Sitaram, N. (2014), <i>Computer diligence for civil engineers,</i> engineeringcivil.com, [Online] Available from: <u>http://www.engineeringcivil.com/computer-diligence-for-civilengineershtml</u> .
173.	Stader, J. (1997), <i>An intelligent system for bid management,</i> International Journal of Project and Risk Management, Vol. 1, No. 3, pp. 297-314.
174.	Standard Tender Documents (2010), <i>Procurement of Works User Guide</i> , European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, pp. 1-122.
175.	Stansbury, C. (2009), The global infrastructure anticorruption centre, Leadersh. Manage. Eng., 10.1061/(ASCE)1532-6748(2009)9:3(119), pp. 119-122.
176.	Tah, J.H.M., and Carr, V. (2001), <i>Towards a framework for project risk knowledge management in the construction supply chain,</i> Advances in Engineering Software, Vol. 32, No.10-11, pp.835-846.
177.	Takim, R., Akintoye, A., and Kelly, J. (2003), <i>Performance measurement systems in construction,</i> Construction, 1 September, pp. 3-5.
178.	Tayie, S. (2005), Research Methods and Writing Research Proposals, Center for Advancement of Postgraduate Studies and Research in Engineering, Cairo University, Cairo.
179.	Taylor, J. (2006), <i>A Survival Guide for Project Managers,</i> 2 nd Edition, New York: Amacom, American Management Association.
180.	Templar, R. (2011), <i>The rules of Management,</i> Second Edition, Harlow UK., Pearson Education Ltd.
181.	Thompson, P. (1996), <i>The role of project management in our changing society</i> , In: Cartwright S, & Gale A., editors, Effective teamworking in the Project Management environment, London: Tudor Business Publishing.
182.	Tinnirello, P. C. (2001), <i>New directions in Project Management,</i> Boca Raton, Auerbach Publications.
183.	Toole, M. (2002), <i>Construction Site Safety Rules,</i> Journal of Construction and Engineering and Management, Vol. 128, No. 3, pp.203-210.
184.	Toor, S.–uR. and Ofori, G. (2008), <i>Taking leadership research into future – A review of empirical studies and new directions for research,</i> Engineering Construction and Architectural Management, Vol. 15, No. 4, pp. 352-371.
185.	Transparency International (2005), <i>The global corruption report 2005,</i> Pluto Press, London.
186.	Udom, K. (2014), A brief introduction to FIDIC contracts, Contracts and Law at NBS, [Online], Available from <u>https://www.thenbs.com/knowledge/a-brief-introduction-to-</u>

fidic-contracts.

- 187. Uher, T. E., and Loosemore, M. (2004), *Essentials of Construction Management*, UNSW Press, Sydney, Australia, p. 408.
- 188. Van Weele, A. (2013), International contracting: Contract Management in Complex Construction Projects, Imperial College Press.
- 189. Veidekke (2013), *Involverende planlegging I prosjektering veileder,* Veidekke Entreprenor AS, Oslo, Norway.
- 190. Von Malmborg, F. B. (2002), *Environmental management systems, communicative action and organizational learning,* Business Strategy and the Environment, Vol. 11, pp. 312-323.
- 191. Wallace, S. (2007), *Project Structure and Organization*, [Online] Available from <u>http://www.epmbook.com/structure.htm</u>.
- 192. Ward, S.C., and Chapman, C.B. (1988), *Developing competitive bids: A framework for information processing,* Journal of the Operational Research Society, Vol. 39, No. 2, pp. 123-134.
- 193. Whitley, R., (2006), *Project-based firms: New organizational form or variations on a theme?*, Industrial and Corporate Change 15, pp. 77-99, doi: 10.1093/icc/dtj003.
- 194. Winch, G. M. (2009), *Managing Construction Projects*, 2nd Edition, Wiley-Blackwell Publishing House.
- 195. Winter, M. and Szczepanek, T. (2009), *Images of Projects,* Gower Publishing Ltd., Farnham U.K.
- 196. Wysocki, R. K. (2009), *Effective Project Management: Traditional, Agile, Extreme,* Indianapolish, Indiana: Wiley publishing, Inc.
- 197. Yin, R. K. (2009), *Case Study Research: design and methods,* 4th Edition, Thousand Oaks Sage Publications, Inc.
- 198. Yin, R.K. (2003), *Case Study research: Design and Methods,* 3rd Ed., Sage publications, Thousand Oaks, California.
- 199. Zhang, Y. and Wildemuth, B. (1966). Qualitative Content Analysis. In: *The University* of *Texas at Austin School of Information*. Pablo Picasso.

APPENDIX A

INTERVIEW QUESTIONS

APPENDIX A

INTERVIEW QUESTIONS

A. BACKGROUND OF THE PERSON TO BE INTERVIEWED

- 1. What are your position and responsibility in the assigned project?
- 2. How many projects similar to the assigned project have you been managed or been involved in any component of the project?
- 3. What is your role in the assigned project?

B. TEAM STRUCTURE

- 1. Was the project-based team structure with the centralized authority set up for project management for your assigned project?
- 2. Were job descriptions distributed to all team members to describe the scope of works of a project and the detailed duty of each team member?
- 3. What were the main problems on the performance of project management in your assigned project?
 - (i) from team leader?
 - (ii) from team manager?
 - (iii) from team member?
- 4. What were the qualification requirements for the team leader, team manager and other team members in your assigned project? Did qualification of each team member match job description of the assigned project?
- 5. Did the project management need team to have the assistance from the head office?
- 6. In your project management team structure, did the team members come from the same organization? What is the impact of project management team if team members do not come from the same organization?
- 7. What was the result of the management of cost, schedule and quality (key issues) with the project management team structure of your assigned project?
- 8. What was your measure in project management team structure when the team failed to manage any of three key issues of cost, time and quality?

- 9. In your opinion, what is the essential position in the composition of team structure for the successful project management?
- 10. Was any software in project management applied in your assigned project? Do you think that the applied software could reduce team members in project management?
- 11. With many software packages for project management on the market, who was responsible for selecting appropriate software to apply in your assigned project? And what was the base of selection of the appropriate software to apply to your assigned project?
- 12. How did your project management team handle the Health, Safety and Environmental (HSE) issues from the team structure in the assigned project?
- 13. How did your project management team handle the corruption issues from forming the team structure in the assigned project?
- 14. Did you experience any problem on the different nationalities with different backgrounds of team members with different cultures on the performance of project management in your project?
- 15. The contractor takes full responsibility for the delivery of the project, what is the solution for project management team to ensure the successful delivery of the project if the contractor does not perform on your assigned project?

APPENDIX B

RESEARCH PARTICIPANT CONSENT FORM

APPENDIX B

RESEARCH PARTICIPANT CONSENT FORM

Title of Project: Selection of Team Structure – the Essential Factor of Project Management for Construction Projects

Name of Researcher: Dat Chau

(Delete as appropriate)

	I confirm that I have read and understood the information sheet for the above study and what my contribution will be.	Yes	No	
	I have been given the opportunity to conduct face to face.	Yes	No	
	I agree to take part in the interview.	Yes	No	NA
	I agree to the interview being tape recorded.	Yes	No	NA
	I agree to digital images being taken during the research exercises.	Yes	No	NA
4	I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I can withdraw from the research at any time without giving any reason.	Yes	No	
	I agree to take part in the above study.	Yes	No	

Name of participant:

Signature:

Date:

APPENDIX C SUMMARY OF FOUR CASE STUDY PROJECTS

APPENDIX C

SUMMARY OF FOUR CASE STUDY PROJECTS

C1. HO TRAM ENTERTAINMENT AND RESORT PROJECT









Ho Tram Entertainment and Resort Project is a world class integrated resort facility being developed in phases situated on 169 contiguous hectare of pristine beach front property located in Ho Tram, Ba Ria – Vung Tau Province, 127km Southeast of Ho Chi Minh City. Vietnam's largest city which attracts the majority of Vietnam's 5M tourists each year.

Construction of the Project 1 (phase 1 and 2) including the two five-star hotels, Vietnam's first Las Vegas-style casinos and the specially designed Greg Norman golf completed by 2011. The entire 169 hectares of the Ho Tram Strip, featuring five Las Vegas-style integrated scheduled to be resorts, is completely developed and operational within ten years. Beside two five-star hotels with 541 luxury guest rooms and a spectacular gaming area consisting of 90 live table games, 500 electronic games, the project still includes world-class conference facilities, a variety of recreational activities and beach facilities. Featuring luxurious amenities in а breath-taking oceanfront location, the project is sure to attract guests from throughout Asia.

The total investment capital of the project is worth of US\$ 4.2 billion (phase 1 and 2 of US\$ 600 Million), the biggest FDI project of its kind in Vietnam.

Number of storey: 21 storeys (including the roof storey).

Client:	Ho Lim		Project	Company
Start year:	200	8		
Completion year:	201	3		

C2. SP-PSA INTERNATIONAL PORT PROJECT



The project is located at Thi Vai International Port in Thi Vai River at Cai Mep area in Southern Vietnam (Phu My I Industrial Zone, Phu My Town, Tan Thanh District, Ba Ria – Vung Tau Province). The project is divided into 2 stages, each stage of 28.2 ha. The first stage (stage 1) with the following building items:

- Dredging, Reclamation, back-filling and soil improvement works.
- Wharf: berth having trestle bridge with wharf accessories
- Embankment and corrosion protection.
- Yard: foundation, pavement, internal roads, container yards facilities.
- Systems of water supply and drainage, electrical supply, sewerage treatment, fire protection, lighting, communication
- CFS warehouse, maintenance workshop, customs and immigration office, substation of water, electricity, fuel, etc, Utilities.
- Access to the port; setting up of equipment

The purpose of the project is to construct container and general cargo terminal and to develop infrastructure related to the terminal, in order to accommodate increasing demand of cargo in Vietnam, thereby supporting economic growth not only of southern part of Vietnam but also of the whole country.

The SP-PSA has total berth length of 1,200m, the total area of 56.40ha, handling capacity of 1.2 mil TEU/year and 1.25 mil tons of general cargoes per year is able to receive vessels up to 6,000 TEU (it is equivalent to 80,000 DWT). The new port is expected to serve as an international hub port in the long term.

Client:	SP-PSA International Port Co., Ltd.				
Start year:	2007				
Completion year:	2010				

C3. VINHOMES LANDMARK RESIDENTIAL COMPLEX PROJECT











Inspired by the Central Park in the world-famous New York City, with a total area of 43.91 hectares and a facade stretching over 1km alongside Saigon River, Vinhomes the Landmark Residential Complex project is a large world class project which is progressing on a fast track program. Construction of the project has been commenced in 2014 and has been managed since then up to now by the Client's in house project management team. Due to changes in the Client's project development strategy, the Client has decided to engage external expertise to carry out Project Management services for 11 tower projects (every tower with from 36 storeys to 50 storeys).

The project is a modern urban complex comprising more than 10,000 condominiums and villas. With the height of over 460m, the Landmark 81 is expected to be the city's iconic building.

The Project is a landmark project within District 2 and close proximity to the Central Business District of Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam, which is destined to become the new metropolitan centre of Ho Chi Minh City. Located in one of the most prime locations in the heart of Ho Chi Minh City, the project is an integral part of Tan Cang area and a stop on the Ben Thanh – Suoi Tien metro line. Its frontage faces the beautiful Saigon River, stretching along the riverbank.

GFA: 1,341,201 m2

Client:	Tan Lien Phat Construction Investment JSC (Member of Vingroup)
Start year:	2015
Completion year:	2017

C4. EXPANSION OF THU DUC WATER PLANT PROJECT – PHASE III CAPACITY OF 300,000 M³/DAY









The objective of the project is to build an expansion of Thu Duc Water Supply Plant – Phase III with the capacity of 300,000m3/day connecting to clean water pipeline D2400 of Thu Duc Water Supply Plant to meet the demand of water consumption in Ho Chi Minh City.

The project scale consists of two main items as follows:

Raw Water Pumping Station with the capacity of 315,000m³/day (with the components of the works designed for increasing the capacity up to 630,000m³/day in the future). Main work items include: water collection and pumping station, pumping and controlling station, chemical building, and transformer station. And other work items include: internal water supply and drainage system, technical ditch, enclosure and security station, internal road and green area.

Water Treatment Plant with the capacity of 300,000m³/day (with the components of the works designed for increasing the capacity up to 600,000m³/day) and other components. Main work items include: capacity division tank, chamber reaction mixina + tank +sedimentation, filtration tanks and clean water pumping station. And other items include: chemical building and storage (chlorine, lime, alum, etc.). technical pumping station. administration and controlling area, treated water piping, drainage system, technical ditch, internal road and green area, transformer station.

Client: Saigon Clean Water Business and Investment Joint Stock Company

Start year: 2012 Completion year: 2015 APPENDIX D KEY ISSUES IN DATA COLLECTION OF FOUR CASE STUDY PROJECTS

APPENDIX D

KEY ISSUES IN DATA COLLECTION OF FOUR CASE STUDY PROJECTS

Table D1 – Key issues in data collection of Ho Tram Entertainment and Resort Project

No.	Description		Interviewee 2	Interviewee 3	Interviewee 4
1.	Type of team structure was the project-based structure with centralized authority of the Project Director.	✓	✓	~	✓
2.	The Project Director was the most important position in team structure for the success of the project management.	✓	✓	✓	✓
3.	Professional discipline department was set up to suit the scope of the project.	✓		✓	✓
4.	There was no problem on the nationalities or organization of team members on contribution to the success of the project management.	√	√	✓	
5.	All positions in the composition of project management team were essential for the successful delivery of the project if team members were correctly assigned with appropriate qualifications.	~	✓	~	~
6.	The team members should have the appropriate qualification and experience.	✓	✓	✓	✓
7.	Project management software was useful to save time for monitoring the project, but most of the applied software required the users to have appropriate qualification to operate.	✓	✓	✓	~
8.	Human resource is a successful key for project management in construction projects, software cannot replace human resource.	✓	✓	✓	✓
9.	The management of cost (by QS), time (by scheduler), quality (by QA/QC) and HSE (by HSE manager) was conducted by the assigned staff for each component.	✓	✓	✓	~
10.	Understanding of construction procedure was essential in the arrangement of construction tender and construction package implementation.	√	√	✓	
11.	Support from the head office of project management team on the coordination with the Supplier or any third party such as Hotel Operator should be set up early and controlled by the project management team.	✓	✓		
12.	Mix-up responsibility of the Technical Department and Interior Fit- out Department on the approval of material created the delay of the construction schedule.	√	√	✓	
13.	Project performance of cost, time, quality and HSE was depended on each managerial position to undertake the responsibility for the task with full support in technical and management issues for the Project Director (Leader).		✓	✓	✓

No.	Description	Interviewee 1	Interviewee 2	Interviewee 3	Interviewee 4
14.	Ethical conduct was the issue on the approval of materials on site.	✓		✓	✓
15.	Monitoring project management team to avoid any wrongdoing was also a duty of Project Director and team leader of the project to avoid corruption.	✓		✓	~
16.	Input from hotel/casino operators in the design phase was essential for the successful delivery of the project.	✓		✓	✓
17.	It is vital to coordinate with contractors to ensure they comply with all necessary procedures to deliver successfully the assigned project.	✓	✓	✓	✓

Notes:

Interviewee 1 - Project Director

Interviewee 2 – Document Controller

Interviewee 3 – M&E Team Leader

Interviewee 4 – Structural Team Leader

No.	Description	Interviewee 1	Interviewee 2
1.	Type of team structure was Project-based structure with the centralized authority of the Project Director.	✓	✓
2.	The Project Director was the most important position in team structure for the success of the project management.	\checkmark	✓
3.	The team members should have the appropriate qualification and experience.	\checkmark	\checkmark
4.	There was no core team set-up but the Deputy Project Director was set up to act as Resident Manager.	\checkmark	\checkmark
5.	Support from the head office of project management team for the design review was essential for the support in technical, management and resource issues.	~	√
6.	Quick respond on technical issues was critical on the construction progress of the project.	\checkmark	\checkmark
7.	There was no problem on the nationalities or organization of team members on contribution to the success of the project management.		✓
8.	Human resource is a successful key for project management in construction projects, software cannot replace human resource.	\checkmark	\checkmark
9.	The management of cost (by QS), time (by scheduler), quality (by QA/QC) and HSE (by HSE manager) was conducted by the assigned staff for each component.	~	
10.	The Document Control Manager needed to coordinate with the Technical Manager to update the construction drawings.	\checkmark	\checkmark
11.	Document control had to be divided into administration document control and technical document control.	✓	✓
12.	Project performance of cost, time, quality and HSE was depended on each managerial position to undertake the responsibility for the task with full support in technical and management issues for the Project Director (Leader).	✓	
13.	Understanding of construction procedure was essential in the arrangement of construction tender and construction package implementation.	✓	~
14.	All positions in the composition of project management team were essential for the successful delivery of the project if team members were correctly assigned with appropriate qualifications.	~	√
15.	Project management software was useful to save time for monitoring the project, but most of the applied software required the users to have appropriate qualification to operate.	~	
16.	Ethical conduct was the issue on the approval of materials and acceptance of works	✓	✓
17.	Monitoring project management team to avoid any wrongdoing was also a duty of Project Director and team leader of the project to avoid corruption.	\checkmark	✓
18.	It is vital to coordinate with contractors to ensure they comply with all necessary procedures to deliver successfully the assigned project.	\checkmark	✓

Table D2 – Key issues in data collection of SP-PSA International Port Project

Notes:

Interviewee 1 - Project Director

Interviewee 2 – Technical Team Leader

Table D3 – Key issues in data collection of Vinhomes Landmark Residential Complex

Project

No.	Description	Interviewee 1	Interviewee 2	Interviewee 3	Interviewee 4	Interviewee 5	Interviewee 6
1.	Type of team structure was the project-based structure with centralized authority of the Project Director.	~	✓	✓	✓	~	
2.	The Project Director was the most important position in team structure for the success of the project management.	~	✓		~	✓	~
3.	Professional discipline department was set up to suit the scope of the project.	~	~		~	✓	~
4.	The team members should have the appropriate qualification and experience.		✓		~	\checkmark	~
5.	Support from the head office of project management team was helpful on the design review.	~	✓	~		✓	~
6.	All positions in the composition of project management team were essential for the successful delivery of the project if team members were correctly assigned with appropriate qualifications.	~	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓
7.	Core team which was set up to assist eleven (11) resident managers was helpful to manage contractors with same treatment and to facilitate team members of project management team.	v		✓	✓	V	✓
8.	Project management software was useful to save time for monitoring the project, but most of the applied software required the users to have appropriate qualification to operate.	~	✓	✓		V	√
9.	It was helpful to have software for monitoring and comparing the construction schedule of all eleven (11) buildings at the same time.	~	✓	~		✓	
10.	Assisting contractor in applying construction method on other buildings to ensure the contractor to keep construction schedule was essential for this project.	~	~	~		✓	~
11.	There was no problem on the nationalities or organization of team members on contribution to the success of the project management.	~	~	✓	~		
12.	Human resource is a successful key for project management in construction projects, software cannot replace human resource.	~	~	✓	~	\checkmark	~
13.	The management of cost (by QS), time (by scheduler), quality and HSE (by QA/QC and HSE manager) was conducted by the assigned staff for each component.	~	~	~		~	
14.	The lack of appropriate team members generated a lot of problems on the management of the contractors.		✓	✓	✓	✓	✓

No.	Description	Interviewee 1	Interviewee 2	Interviewee 3	Interviewee 4	Interviewee 5	Interviewee 6
15.	The project leader should recognize early the potential issues to correction of team members.	✓		✓	~	~	~
16.	The previous Project Director from German had problem with the adaptation to the operational culture of the project.		~	✓	~	~	~
17.	Project performance of cost, time, quality and HSE was depended on each managerial position to undertake the responsibility for the task with full support in technical and management issues for the Project Director (Leader).	~		~	*	✓	✓
18.	Ethical conduct was the issue on the approval of the hand-over onsite.	~	✓	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	~
19.	Monitoring project management team to avoid any wrongdoing was also a duty of Project Director and team leader of the project to avoid corruption.	~	~	~			~
20.	It is vital to coordinate with contractors to ensure they comply with all necessary procedures to deliver successfully the assigned project.	✓	~	~	~	✓	~

Notes:

Interviewee 1 - Project Director

Interviewee 2 - Resident Manager

Interviewee 3 – Design Management Team Leader

Interviewee 4 – Contract Management

Interviewee 5 – Document Controller

Interviewee 6 – Technical Manager

Table D4 – Key issues in data collection of Expansion of Thu Duc Water Plant
Project – Phase III, Capacity of 300,000 m ³ /day

No.	Description	Interviewee 1	Interviewee 2	Interviewee 3
1.	Type of team structure was Project-based structure with the centralized authority of the Project Director.	~	✓	~
2.	The Project Director was the most important position in team structure for the success of the project management.	~	\checkmark	~
3.	Responsibility for the design review of project management in EPC contract was essential for the progress of the project.	~	✓	✓
4.	Quick response on technical issues was critical on the construction progress of the project.	\checkmark	✓	~
5.	Understanding of construction procedure was essential in the arrangement of construction tender and construction package implementation.	~	✓	
6.	The team members should have the appropriate qualification and experience.	\checkmark	\checkmark	
7.	Support from the head office of project management team was essential for the support in technical, management and resource issues.		~	~
8.	There was no problem on the nationalities or organization of team members on contribution to the success of the project management.		✓	~
9.	Software for project management in infrastructure project only provided administration work but not technical solution.	~	✓	~
10.	Human resource is a successful key for project management in construction projects, software cannot replace human resource.	~	✓	~
11.	The management of cost (by QS), time (by scheduler), quality (by QA/QC) and HSE (by HSE manager) was conducted by the assigned staff for each component.	✓		✓
12.	All positions in the composition of project management team were essential for the successful delivery of the project if team members were correctly assigned with appropriate qualifications.	~	✓	~
13.	The supply procedure of imported equipment/ material needs managing by the scheduler.	~		✓
14.	Project performance of cost, time, quality and HSE was depended on each managerial position to undertake the responsibility for the task with full support in technical and management issues for the Project Director (Leader).		~	~
15.	Technical issues related to the specifications had to be checked by technical team.	~	~	~
16.	Monitoring project management team to avoid any wrongdoing was also a duty of Project Director and team leader of the project to avoid corruption.	✓	~	
17.	It is vital to coordinate with contractors to ensure they comply with all necessary procedures to deliver successfully the assigned project.	\checkmark	✓	

No.	Description	Interviewee 1	Interviewee 2	Interviewee 3
18.	It is important to coordinate with sub-contractors of EPC contractor for supplying, installing and commissioning the equipment of the plant.	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark

Notes:

Interviewee 1 - Project Director

Interviewee 2 – Construction Team Leader

Interviewee 3 – Document Controller